Geena Davis Institute \mathcal{H} on Gender in Media

COPLAN INTERNATIONAL GIRLS EQUAL

RENALIE HERSIORY

How film and media stereotypes affect the lives and leadership ambitions of girls and young women

TECHNICAL REPORT

CONTENTS

Contents	1			
Acknowledgements	2			
1. Executive Summary	3			
1.1. Research summary		3		
1.2. Research findings		3		
1.3. Recommendations		4		
2. Introduction to the study	5			
2.1. Focus of the research		5		
2.2. Partners		6		
3. Setting the scene: media, gender and leadership	7			
4. Methodology	10			
4.1. Data collection and analysis		11		
4.2. Ethics		13		
4.3. Research limitations		14		
5. Findings	15			
5.1. What girls and young women say about media and role models		15		
5.2. Film media content analysis		18		
5.3. Key informant interviews		24		
5.4. Girls' photo project		33		
6. Analytical themes	39			
6.1. The scale of media influence on girls and young women		40		
6.2. Gender discrimination and gender stereotypes still dominate		40		
6.3. Media portrayals of female leadership send mixed messages		41		
6.4. Sexual objectification in 2019		41		
6.5. Media role models and media impact		42		
6.6. Perception versus reality				
6.7. The change girls and young women want to see		43		
7. Recommendations	43			
7.1. Calls to action		43		
8. Bibliography	44			
9. Annex 1: KII tool	46			
10. Annex 2: Girls' photo project tool	48			
11. References	51			

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Many thanks to all the research participants from Benin, Canada, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Finland, Honduras, India, Japan, Netherlands, Peru, Philippines, Senegal, Sierra Leone, South Sudan, Sweden, Vietnam, Uganda, USA, Zimbabwe. Thanks are due also to Plan International staff and their partners, the key informant interviewees and those involved in the photo project and in the implementation and analysis of this research, without whose help the work of amplifying girls' voices would be impossible.

In particular, the following are acknowledged:

Report team: Amy Ashlee, Isobel Fergus, Jacqui Gallinetti and Sophie Tanner, Technical Report Authors; Sharon Goulds, Lead Editor and State of the World's Girls Report Author.

Our partner – Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media at Mount Saint Mary's University: Dr. Caroline Heldman, Soraya Giaccardi and their team of researchers. Geena Davis, Founder and Chair, Madeline Di Nonno, CEO, Elizabeth Kilpatrick, Vice President, Development and Operations.

Plan International's editorial board: Jacqui Gallinetti, Danny Plunkett, Madeleine Askam, Miriam Gauer

Additional contributors: Special thanks go also to Mayye Zayed for her personal contribution to this report; to Wendy Mitchell for her interviews and to Kemiyondo Coutinho, Melina León, Ash Mayfair, Guneet Monga, Elle-Máijá Tailfeathers and Elli Toivoniemi for sharing their experiences and ideas.

From Plan International: Emma Langley, Carla Jones, Sean Maguire, Rosamund Ebdon, Sarah Carson, Sigma Shams.

Country office and national organisation teams: Thanks are due to staff at Plan International offices in all of the countries that participated in both the survey and qualitative focus groups. In particular we would like to thank:

- Dominican Republic: Tania Fajardo, Michela da Rodda, Laura Breton and Santa Hilma
- India: Soumen Ghosh, Prakash Gus, Shanu Somvanshi, Ritu Sahni, Poonam Mehta, Charu Anand
- Japan: Maki Enokita, Mariko Inoue and Naoko Shiroya
- Senegal: Mamadou Ndiaye, Madina Dia and Oumou Mbaye
- South Sudan: Stella Drate, Anthony Kamba and Allen Poni

Design: Sandra Dudley

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. Research Summary

The world's most popular films still show a world that is run by men, for men. *Rewrite Her Story* finds films are perpetuating harmful stereotypes that prevent girls and young women from fulfilling their potential. Women and girls are rarely presented as leaders, and even when they are in leadership positions they are far more likely than men to be sexually objectified.

This new report is the second phase of a research project looking at female leadership. It focuses on the specific role of media in shaping girls' and young women's ambitions and aspirations to leadership and includes an analysis of 56 top-grossing films in 2018 across 20 countries.

"I guess media does have a lot of power over our thoughts and how we see the world. I think it plays a significant part in my life." Young woman, 18, Canada

The Stories We are Told

The representation of women on screen as secondary to men – often sexualised and confined to the domestic sphere – has been an issue for decades, and challenged for decades, but little has changed. This research shows the stories we are told and the images that surround us play a critical role in shaping girls' and young women's aspirations. The media can be a force for good but it can also perpetuate harmful gender stereotypes: the research tells us clearly that girls and women, as citizens and certainly as leaders, are still not seen on screen as equal to boys and men.

"Because usually when we talk about a leader I still come up with a man. I still think about a man. [This idea] It's really popular... people think that men are more powerful." Young woman, 21, Vietnam

Throughout the research, girls and young women told us that they couldn't find themselves on screen; they look for role models, but they are largely missing. The film content analysis tracked time on screen, the gender of the characters and the portrayal of leadership, and its findings back up the girls' perceptions: on screen time is taken up largely by protagonists who are white and male. The filmmakers, too, are predominantly white and male. Not one of the 56 top-grossing films in 2018 was directed by a woman.

"When we see women playing secondary roles, young women can think it's normal life to play a secondary role and lose ambition." Young woman, 23, Senegal

1.2. Research Findings

Women leaders are sexualised and objectified in a way that men never are

- Female leaders are four times more likely than male leaders to be shown wearing revealing clothing: 30% compared to 7%.
- Female leaders are nearly twice as likely to be shown as partially nude than male leaders: 15% compared to 8%.
- Characters who are female leaders are four times more likely to be shown completely naked at some point in the film than male leaders: 2% compared to 0.5%.
- Female leaders are more likely to sexually objectified than male leaders: 15% compared to 4%.
- Female leaders are more likely to be sexually harassed than male leaders: 5% compared to 1%.

Male leaders are the norm

Overall 42% of male, compared to 27% of female characters, are shown on screen as leaders.

In both films and in advertising women are portrayed at home rather than at work; they are valued for their looks: one interviewee commented that a key message to girls and young women was that, "we have to be pretty."

"Women and girls in general are taking care of the household and looking nice and sort of like... just doing the basic things that people expect a female to do. I don't really see women doing anything outside the stereotype..." Young woman, 18, Canada

Girls and young women need role models

Across all the participating countries, girls and young women strongly believed that when they cannot see women as leaders on screens or cannot identify positive role models, they lose confidence and ambition. They thought this is amplified for women of colour.

"I think especially for women of colour and for girls of colour I think it's more difficult if you don't have a good example or a strong example [of women in leadership]... you probably would have question marks there about whether you can make it to the top." Young woman, 23, Netherlands

Girls and young women also wanted more diversity on screen – to see their own lives reflected in the films and shows they watch.

"I think when we don't have a lot of representation, then of course you don't have a lot of representation of different types of women because we can hardly get women on screen in the first place so there is not enough time to put other races or personalities in there... As a visible minority I can say that I never saw anyone that was on screen that looked like me." Girl, 17, Canada

1.3. Recommendations

To be it, they must see it. Make stories about female leadership visible and normal. Stories need to encourage young women's aspirations and ambitions, not undermine them.

Stop the sexualisation and the objectification of women and girls on screen and ensure content doesn't discriminate or reinforce negative stereotypes and behaviour.

Fund female filmmakers, programme makers and content producers. Invest more time and money in women and girls as storytellers while addressing harassment and discrimination in the workplace to encourage girls and women into key positions in the media industry.

"We could switch up these stereotypes of the leadership role and how that should look... women can stand up for themselves and take the lead and that could be very inspirational I think for young women to see." Young woman, 24, Netherlands

2. INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

This study forms the basis of the State of the World Girls Report 2019. This technical report sets out the findings of ongoing research conducted in 2019 by Plan International and the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media at Mount Saint Mary's University. The research aimed at understanding and uncovering girls' and young women's perspectives on what leadership means to them; whether they aspire to be leaders and, if so, the processes, enablers and barriers they face in realising their potential as leaders. In addition, in the knowledge that external factors and influences shape both the notion of leadership and aspirations to lead, the study also sought to understand how different forms of media portray leadership, and in particular female leadership, and how this influences the perceptions of girls and young women.

The first part of the research was released in a report and launched at the Women Deliver Conference in June 2019. The research was conducted across 19 countries, involving over 10,000 girls and young women and investigated girls' and young women's aspirations to lead: about what holds them back, what encourages them and what needs to be in place for their aspirations to become reality. The findings show that many girls and young women want to be leaders. They want, too, to be a particular type of leader - compassionate, dedicated to their community, and listening to the needs of others - but they are not encouraged in their ambitions. They are held back by society's limited expectations of what is "appropriate" for them as young women and by a leadership model of authority and hierarchy that they cannot identify with: denied the places and spaces, and the role models, that would enable them to realise their dreams. The study found that the role of families and communities are critical to harnessing the leadership aspirations of girls and young women. The girls and young women said that they are influenced most by their immediate environment and look to their family members and others as role models and supporters and to release them from restrictive stereotyping.

Thus the second part of the research has focused in on examining one particular influence that girls and young women are exposed to in their daily lives – the influence of the media - and how it contributes to underscoring the notion of equality or portraying gender stereotypes, especially in relation to female leadership. Obviously, there are a multitude of media forms and it would be impossible to examine them all, so this study has looked at two in particular: advertising images that girls see on a daily basis and visual entertainment media.

This report therefore brings together the various components of the research as a whole. It does not restate all the findings from the first part of the research, *Taking the Lead: Girls and Young Women on Changing the Face of Leadership*,¹ but discusses those which are relevant for the focus on media as an influence in them wanting to lead in different aspects of their life and their perceptions of female leadership.

In this report, we outline the focus of the research and research questions, introduce the partners and provide a brief outline of key existing global literature on the topic, before going into detail on the methodology. The findings are presented in separate sub-sections to section 5 as each of the components were stand-alone pieces which contribute to the findings which are then discussed as a whole in section 6, before the final section outlines the key recommendations and calls to action that emerge.

2.1. Focus of the research

As alluded to above, evidence suggests that during the early years' of adolescence, social norms start to become more rigidly enforced and more personally salient: adolescence often sees girls "leave comparatively free childhoods and are forced down the gendered adult pathways of their local environments" and they learn to modify their expectations according to the requirements and pressures of their local and household environments.² A study by Girl Effect found that gender norms in adolescence reinforce "notions of male strength, competence and control while concurrently reinforcing female frailty, vulnerability and need for protection".³

Gender norms are learned from immediate contact with parents, peers and the media, which tend to reinforce the status quo and present restrictive gender roles through dialogue, role models and restrictions of opportunities and girls' agency.⁴

This study, while conducted in two interlinked parts, was conceptualised in a way that looked at a series of related research questions that investigate the notion of leadership as perceived by girls and young women and how they perceive the barriers and enablers for female leadership. One specific avenue of enquiry which the study as a whole sought to understand is whether and how role-models and media influence affect girls' aspirations to aspire to lead and or take on leadership roles in their families, communities, jobs and countries.

The high-level research questions for the full study are as follows:

- 2. What factors encourage and discourage girls' leadership aspirations? Definitions of leadership; influences on aspirations and how they change over time; barriers and enablers to setting leadership goals.
- 3. How do girls become a leader? Perceived and actual pathways to leadership; perceived and actual pros/cons of becoming a leader; characteristics of leadership; catalysts for leadership.
- 4. How does media portray leadership? Female leaders portrayed in mainstream media, types of leadership style, professional domains where female leaders are featured.

2.1.1. Research questions for the media study

For the second part of the research, advertisements and the visual entertainment media were chosen as common forms of media which girls and young women, as well a broader society, would be exposed to quite regularly and which could influence perceptions of gender roles and stereotypes. While the investigation looked at broad gender representations in media, it focused in on how female leadership was represented.

The sub-questions that directed the study are:

- 1. How is gender represented in advertisements that girls and young women see day to day, in particular how is female leadership portrayed?
- 2. How is gender represented in entertainment media, namely popular films of 2018 and popular television series, in particular how is female leadership portrayed?

2.2. Partners

In 2018, Plan International and the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media (GDIGM) forged a unique partnership, drawing together their respective expertise in girls' rights, aspirations of girls and young women, and gender and the media. The research was conceived in June 2018 as a joint project, with Plan International leading on qualitative research components and GDIGM on the survey and media components. The partnership spans both phases of the research – *Taking the Lead: Girls and young women on how to change the face of leadership* - the report launched at Women Deliver 2019 and this report - State of the World Girls Report 2019.

2.2.1. Plan International

Plan International strives to advance children's rights and equality for girls all over the world. The organisation is an independent development and humanitarian organisation working alongside children, young people, supporters and partners to tackle the root causes of the challenges facing girls and all vulnerable children. Plan International drives change in practice and policy at local, national and global levels using our reach, experience and knowledge. For over 85 years we have been building powerful partnerships for children, and we are active in over 75 countries.

In 2018, Plan International launched a new global campaign: Girls Get Equal. Girls Get Equal is campaigning in support of girls' power, freedom, representation and leadership. Its vision is a world where girls and young women, in all their diversity, are equally able to make decisions about their own lives and shape the world around them. Plan International is committed to using the findings from this research to feed into advocacy and programming at global, national and local levels in furtherance of the goals of Girls Get Equal.

2.2.2. Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media at Mount Saint Mary's University

The mission of the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media at Mount Saint Mary's University is to engage, educate, and influence media content creators, marketeers, and audiences about the importance of eliminating gender bias and stereotypes in media. To this end, the Institute is dedicated to

intersectional analysis of representations of gender, race, ability, and sexuality. The Geena Davis Institute has amassed the largest body of research on gender prevalence in family entertainment, spanning more than twenty years. The Institute's research serves as the basis for education and outreach programmes that help families, studios, educators and content creators become critical consumers and producers.

3. SETTING THE SCENE: MEDIA, GENDER AND LEADERSHIP

On the eve of Beijing+25, the twenty-fifth anniversary of the Fourth World Conference on Women and adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action (1995), it is important to note that it was then that 189 UN Member States recognized the central role of media in shifting the gender stereotypes that influence how we think and act. And when talking about gender stereotypes it is useful to remember that stereotypes are regarded as beliefs about a social category, especially those that differentiate genders, and they become problematic when they lead to expectations about one social category over another or restrict opportunities for one social category over another.⁵

The UN Member States made women and media one of 12 critical areas of the Beijing Platform for Action and called on media everywhere to make a far greater contribution to women's advancement.⁶ They agreed that the number of women in the media must increase, including in decision-making.⁷ More should be done to present women as leaders and role models, and to do away with stereotypes.⁸ In the context of the original Beijing Platform for Action and its calls on the role of the media, it has been argued that traditional perceptions of the roles of women and men in society must be rethought and that this involves the reorganization of the basic institutions of society - the market, Government and the family – and the media, which helps define what we think and what our place is in society, have a crucial role to play in changing people's perceptions and stereotyped views of the roles of men and women.⁹

But even before the Beijing Platform of Action, how the media portrays women and girls has been an issue for critical discussion. In her seminal work, Gail Tuchman analysed mass media—television, newspapers, magazines—and the advertising they carry to gather support for her argument that, by largely ignoring women or portraying them in stereotypical roles of victim and/or consumer, the mass media symbolically annihilate women.¹⁰ Grau and Zotos, reviewing earlier research on advertising and gender stereotypes, note that historically women have been portrayed in an inferior manner relative to their capabilities and potential, and that advertising also contributes to gender inequality by promoting sexism and distorted body images as valid and acceptable.¹¹ Writing in 2016, they state that, in general, gender stereotyping in advertising still exists and is prevalent in many countries around the world. However, they suggest that things are changing in recent years: but that the change is in relation to the role of men. To support this they cite examples such as (a) the 2015 Super Bowl, which broadcast advertising from Dove Men Care showing men in much 'softer' roles while interacting with their children and (b) research which found that there were fewer men in the lead role in adverts but increased portrayals of men as fathers, but note that both are small trends.

Tuchman noted that most media portray women, if at all, in traditional roles: homemaker, mother, or, if they are in the paid workforce, jobs of a clerical nature and other positions which are seen as traditionally reserved for women.¹² And, likewise, she determines that there are few, if any, depictions of strong female characters in positions of responsibility or authority, even inside the home. She views this with concern given the role that the mass media may play in shaping young girls' wants, needs, and expectations, and she argues that, given the influence that mass media has on behavior and attitudes, consistent repetition of such themes can be expected to encourage the maintenance of women's subordinate position in society.

Many people and institutions discourage girls from seeking leadership positions by reinforcing retrograde gender stereotypes – parents, peers, teachers, school officials, religious leaders, corporations, voters,

political parties, lawmakers, and others. However, one institution stands out in its ability to shape culture: mass media. As identified by the Beijing Platform for Action and Tuchman, visibility of women leaders in media is a factor in shaping girls' and women's perceptions of leadership. Media is one of the primary ways children learn that ambition is okay for boys, but not for girls. When Weissbourd asked girls in a U.S. high school why they lacked confidence in their leadership abilities, they identified media that denigrates female leadership as influential.¹³

Media does not tell people *what* to think, but it tells people what topics to think *about*, and *how* to think about them by focusing on some aspects and not others.¹⁴ Media shapes perceptions of who can be an authentic leader, and in most cases, this means men.¹⁵ The study of representations of women's leadership in different countries, conducted by the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, examined films in the ten more profitable media territories: Australia, Brazil, China, France, Germany, India, Japan, Russia, South Korea, and the United Kingdom.¹⁶ Across these ten regions, men dominate media portrayals of corporate (86%), political (91%), religious (100%), academic (71%), and entertainment (84%) leaders. Women are mostly missing in media portrayals of leadership in popular culture.

Press coverage of politics reinforce the idea that leadership is a male domain.¹⁷ Research examining newspaper coverage of the Spanish elections, in France, Italy, Spain and the UK, found that while some coverage celebrates women politicians as standard bearers, others judge them more by their physical appearance or their performance as wives, mothers, and mothers-to-be.¹⁸ Female political candidates receive less media coverage and more negative coverage than their male competitors, ¹⁹ and more attention to their personality traits, personal lives, dress, and appearance, all of which signals that female candidates are less serious contenders.²⁰ Female candidates also receive more coverage questioning their viability than male candidates, ²¹ and are covered as being less authentic than their male competitors are.²² Online media have actually increased sexism in public discourse about female candidates.²³ Social media has become a visible forum for individuals to express bigoted beliefs, fueled by anonymity, and as such, it presents a more hostile environment for female candidates who are discussed in more sexist terms than in legacy media.²⁴

Noting how the type of studies mentioned about have been conducted in different parts of the world, and that the focus has been that the media have "marginalized women in the public sphere", a study in Uganda looked at how the media represents the position of women as both sources and reporters.²⁵ The study found, using climate change as a coverage issue since 56 percent of women in Uganda are farmers, that the gender gap in Uganda is highly pronounced, with women as sources ranked third in importance after men and anonymous sources.

A recent global study examined the relationship between media gender bias and the proportion of candidates for the lower chamber of national parliaments who are women.²⁶ Data on media gender bias came from the Global Media Monitoring Project and data on the proportion of female political candidates came from the Inter-Parliamentary Union. The results show that that there is, even when controlling for the number of women in parliament, electoral system, gender quotas, level of human development, level of women's rights, freedom from corruption, and media access, a significant relationship between media gender bias—measured as (i) the share of all news subjects that are women and (ii) the share of all news subjects portrayed in the function of experts who are women—and the proportion of women candidates. The authors argued that sexist portrayals of women in the media stifle ambition among women who, in a less sexist media environment, would be willing to stand as political candidates.

The discussion above has looked at how women and girls are depicted in the media and also how the media deals with female leadership in popular culture and in the area of politics. However, one of the areas that the Beijing Platform called out was that while more women are involved in careers in the communications sector, few have attained positions at the decision-making level or serve on governing boards and bodies that influence media policy.²⁷ Yet there is evidence that employing more women in key positions in film crews leads to better representation of girls and women in film. Numerous studies in the last forty years have identified a link between women in key decision-making roles on the crew and more women in the cast.²⁸ These studies find that having a woman director and at least one woman on the writing team produces more female leads, more female characters, and more dialogue for female characters. In addition, female directors are especially important when it comes to hiring more women on film casts and crews. A recent study finds that, of the top 500 films of 2018, films with at least one female director employed a greater percentage of women editors, writers, composers, and cinematographers

than films directed by men.²⁹ When interrogating the reasons behind this, a recent article highlighted the fact that the studio system for approving projects and giving directors financing is secretive; that Hollywood doesn't appear to champion the type of movies female directors prefer to make (personal character driven films that focus on personal lives and human interaction); women directors are given smaller budgets and their movies are generally distributed by independent studios as opposed to the major studios.³⁰

Ultimately, the actions identified by the Beijing Platform remain unfulfilled today. However, there may be some progress: a recent online article notes that 16 of the 87 studio films slated for release in 2019 have at least one woman credited as director which is up from just 3 last year, when half of the major studios (Paramount, Sony and Warner Bros.) had no female directors on their wide-release slates.³¹ And the Times Up movement has resulted in the launch of *Time's Upx2*, a campaign aiming to double the number of women in leadership and in other spaces where they are underrepresented.³² This in turn has led to the 4% Challenge, first mentioned in the Sundance Festival's "Making the (In)visible: Radical Transparency in the Data-Driven Age" panel and which has gained traction through Universal Filmed Entertainment Group being first major studio to take the challenge, meaning that Universal Pictures, Focus Features, and DreamWorks Animation have each committed to announcing a woman-directed project by mid-2020.³³ The Times Up movement is also just one of a number of other advocacy initiatives that are working towards more equity and diversity in media - Women In Film advocates for and advances the careers of women working in the screen industries and The Annenberg Inclusion Initiative is a think tank studying diversity and inclusion in entertainment through original research and sponsored projects and developing targeted, research-based solutions to tackle inequality.³⁴ The Swedish Film Institute also launched a new initiative for professional women scriptwriters this year.³⁵ A recent study found less than 30 percent of Sweden's screenwriters are women – only one of Sweden's eight big-budget films in 2018 featured a woman writer. The initiative aims to increase the number of female voices in films and support them to develop and make bigger budget projects.

In addition, there are some examples of how societal institutions have tried to address some of the issues identified. One of these is the EU, where advertising's self-regulatory bodies as well as the European Advertising Standard Alliance began updating their ethical guidelines on gender portrayals following increased complaints by consumers as well as the approval of anti-discrimination laws in several European countries and, in 2008, a EU resolution was adopted on how marketing and advertising affects equality between women and men.³⁶ Others are more ad hoc, such as the Danish Film Institute, in partnership with the Danish Producers Association, seeking to get a handle on the gender balance of Danish film productions by introducing a so-called self-report form, in which production companies specify the gender balance of their film productions,³⁷ and the Government of Iceland awarding its Motivational Award for Gender Equality for the first time to a media company - in doing so the jury said, "Sagafilm operates in an industry where men have been more dominant and therefore it is crucial to have the determination to change it. Conscious decisions have been made to promote female directors and scriptwriters. Decisions which affect the company's production, where it can be clearly seen that the gender gap has minimized. The stories that are told reflect this reality better than before." ³⁸ Importantly, the British Film Institute (BFI) - which is a charity that promotes and preserves film and which awards Lottery funding for film production, distribution, education, audience development and market intelligence and research - has a set of Diversity Standards that underpins the award of funds for making films. The Standards encourage equality of opportunity and tackle under-representation in the film industry and are a contractual requirement for projects funded by the BFI.³⁹ The BFI has also committed to working with all active producers, film organisations and project leaders in the UK, to voluntarily adopt the Standards by 2022, to ensure the sector is representative of the UK, both in terms of its workforce and the content it produces.

But these are exceptions rather than the norm and as the findings from this study will show, so much more needs to be done to make the Beijing Platform actions a reality. And where there has been progress it is very much limited to equality within the media industry for women. The advancements made don't appear to give voice to recognising how the media affects gender stereotyping in society. As this research will show, the media still plays a critical role in shaping girls and young women's aspirations to lead in their families, communities, countries and careers as well as perpetuating the harmful gender stereotypes that act as barriers to girls and young women making their aspirations a reality.

4. METHODOLOGY

This research sought to answer the research questions using mixed methods – quantitative, qualitative and content analysis - in order to be able to demonstrate the findings from an objective, expert content analysis with the subjective views and perceptions of girls and young women from the quantitative and qualitative research. It was very important to capture the voice and perspective of girls and young women and their own understanding of gender stereotypes in the media; female leadership and how it is portrayed in society and potential pathways and barriers to becoming leaders themselves. However, it was also important to have a global overview of these issues, allowing comparability between different types of countries and contexts. To this end the countries for both the quantitative and qualitative research with girls and young women were selected at random from within regional and income categories. The one common factor is that Plan International has offices in all participating countries. These countries then formed the basis for the content analysis of films.

A mixed method approach – quantitative, qualitative and content analysis - is being applied to the research overall, including (i) findings from a global survey in 19 countries and focus group discussions (FGDs) in a randomly selected sub-set of 5 countries from the first part of the research (ii) expert media content analysis and girls and young women's reflections (photo project), (iii) expert film content analysis and (iv) key informant interviews with a small sample of girls and young women.

Study component	Countries
Survey	Benin, Canada, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Finland, Honduras, India, Japan, Netherlands, Peru, Philippines, Senegal, Sierra Leone, South Sudan, Sweden, Vietnam, Uganda, USA, Zimbabwe.
Focus Group Discussions	Dominican Republic, India, Japan, Senegal, South Sudan
Girls' Photo Project	Dominican Republic, India, Japan, Senegal, South Sudan
Key Informant Interviews	Canada, India, Netherlands, Peru, Senegal, Uganda, Vietnam
Media Content Analysis	Canada, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Germany, Finland, Honduras, India, Japan, Netherlands, Peru, Philippines, Sweden, Vietnam, the U.S.
	South Africa, Nigeria, Egypt, Portugal, Angola, Monaco, Morocco, Tunisia, France, Algeria (as proxies for the African countries in the sample where no box office data was available).

Table 1: Countries in which components of this study took place

Girls and young women aged 15-24 were the target for the survey, FGDs, photo project and key informant interviews - capturing perspectives across the breadth of different contexts whilst enabling discussions on the complex and nuanced aspects of the research questions. However, for reasons which are undetermined, the survey data included responses from 317 25-year-olds – and therefore the research includes all the survey responses in the analysis. Similarly, the key informant interviews also included one young woman aged 25.

The rest of this section provides an overview of the methodology.

4.1. Data collection and analysis

4.1.1. Survey and Focus Group Discussions

The target sample for the survey was 500 girls and young women per country, and overall 10,064 responses were received from across the nineteen countries. The survey included 10 closed questions on aspirations to lead, experience of leading, confidence, encouragement, role models and discrimination (see *Taking the Lead*, Annex 2, for the full survey). Five demographic questions were included to allow more in-depth analysis. The survey was delivered through online and SMS modalities using two survey firms, Kantar and Ipsos Public Affairs. In addition, Kantar used two alternative methods of data collection following low response rate from SMS in some countries: Computer Assisted Personal Interviewing (CAPI), and Computer Assisted Telephone Interviewing (CATI).

Twelve FGDs were carried out in each of the five selected countries with, on average, between 6-8 participants aged 15-24 in each – a total of 413 participants across the five countries. In most countries FGDs were carried out in a mixture of urban and rural locations. The FGDs were centred around two key activities: (i) 'body mapping' to understand perspectives on characteristics and experience of a young female leader, and (ii) an activity to gauge the main sources of influence and inspiration in the lives of girls and young women. The FGDs were designed with the intent of understanding how girls and young women themselves perceived leadership in their own contexts. The FGD tool was developed in consultation with young people and adapted for each country context in consultation with local Plan International staff and local researchers during training. Appropriate local researchers were identified to facilitate and lead FGDs after taking part in an intensive, practical training run by Plan International. (The research tool used for the FGDs is included in the report *Taking the Lead*, Annex 3.)

The analysis framework for the survey and the FGDs was designed in order to unpack the key research questions as stated above, recognising that in order for young women to become leaders they need to aspire to and achieve their goals. In doing so they need to overcome the gender norms and structures which limit their vision of the possibilities awaiting them. The research therefore set out to understand whether they aspire to leadership and the common barriers, pathways and enabling factors. The quantitative data from the survey was analysed using SPSS and Stata and the qualitative data was analysed using NVivo. The combined analysis framework presented below represents the top-level coding themes.

	Aspirations to leadership	Characteristics and qualities of leadership	Motivations to become leaders	Barriers to leadership	Enablers to leadership	Level of experience of leadership
Quant	X			X	X	X
Qual		Х	X	X	X	X

Table 2: Top level analysis framework for the survey and FGDs

4.1.2. Content analysis of top-grossing films

The media content analysis is based on the top ten grossing films in each country studied. Data was located via film box office data through Comscore and Box Office Mojo. It was possible to locate reputable lists of the top ten grossing films in Canada, Denmark, Dominican Republic, Germany, Finland, Honduras, India, Japan, Netherlands, Peru, Philippines, Sweden, Vietnam, and the U.S. However, it was not possible to locate country-specific films lists for the African countries in the sample of countries used for the survey (Benin, Senegal, Sierra Leone, South Sudan, Uganda, Zimbabwe). As a result, the top ten films from countries that cover each region of the continent were included as a proxy (South Africa, Nigeria, Egypt, Portugal and Angola, and Monaco, Morocco, Tunisia, and France and Algeria).

Many of the top ten grossing films in each country overlapped with the top-grossing films in other countries, so a total of 56 films were analysed for this report.ⁱ The final dataset includes 1,859 characters from the top-grossing films. The analysis in this report is based on the 682 leading and supporting characters in the dataset, which excludes minor characters.

Two analytic techniques were used for this content analysis. First, a team of ten researchers coded the content of films in the sample. They were trained on a codebook, then performed a series of tests in order to achieve interrater reliability in terms of percentage agreement and Fleiss's Kappa. Additionally, eighteen films were double-coded to check for consistency, meaning that two coders analysed the same film to ensure reliability.

Secondly, the GD-IQ was used. This is a revolutionary new automatic audio-visual tool— the first of its kind developed specifically to analyse media content. It measures on-screen time by partitioning the movie into face-tracks by tracking the detected faces locally in time. Gender is computed for each face-track separately. Total screen time is then calculated by gender for each film using the track duration. Speaking time is measured by applying automatic speech detection software that classifies the speaker as female or male.

The films analysed are not named: the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media at Mount Saint Mary's University has a policy against naming and shaming film and television production studios for their content.

4.1.3. Girls' photo project

This part of the study involved a content analysis of gender representations in visual advertisements – including on billboards and in magazines – identified and photographed by girls and young women in and around Plan International offices. Thus this component of the study was girl led in that girls chose the media content for analysis and then also analysed the content through the reflection workshops in addition to the expert quantitative analysis of the images. This component took place in five countries (the Dominican Republic, India, Japan, Senegal, and South Sudan); the same five countries as the FGDs, they were selected based on convenience, determined by the location of a Plan International office with programs serving local girls and resources to run this research exercise.

This research component typically took place over three days with groups of 5-10 girls in each country. The first day was allocated for training of girls and young women including on: how to take photographs, the purpose of the exercise and the types of advertisements to capture, basic media literacy, safety and logistics. The second day involved girls and young women moving around in their communities in groups and taking photographs of adverts. The final day involved a reflection workshop, where girls and young women shared their thoughts on the messages the advertisements were conveying and how gender was represented. See Annex 2 for materials used in country for the girls' photo project.

The final dataset includes 205 characters from 108 advertisements across the five different countries. Girls in the Dominican Republic and Senegal gathered more than twice the number of ads as girls in the other countries. Expert analysis was conducted by GDI during April 2019. This was complemented by thematic analysis of girls' and young women's own reflections and interpretations of the advertising images that they photographed.

Advertisements from Each Country	Percentage	(n)
Dominican Republic	37.6%	77
India	11.2%	23
Japan	13.2%	27
Senegal	27.8%	57
South Sudan	10.2%	21

Table 3: photographs taken in each country, as percentage of total number of photographs taken

The photo project had a participatory design. It aimed to explore what girls and young women see on a daily basis through their own eyes through looking at the photos they took and their initial analysis and

¹ The total number of top-grossing films was 61, but five films could not be located for analysis, so the final dataset was 56 films.

responses of these photos. One objective of the photo project was to increase media literacy and critical thinking skills of those girls and young women who took part, and some girls reported learning about taking good photos and understanding advertisements better.

4.1.4. Key Informant Interviews with girls and young women

The purpose of the Key Informant Interviews (KIIs) was to provide more depth to complement the statistical analysis of film content: through the introduction of the perceptions of girls and young women. Overall, the KIIs sought to gather girls' and young women's perspectives on how women and men are portrayed in entertainment media in general, and in relation to leadership in particular, asking them to reflect on and explore themes and characters from their favourite visual entertainment media. For the KII tool, refer to Annex 1 of this report.

In total, 13 KIIs were conducted with girls and young women between the ages of 15-25 across seven countries: Canada, India, Netherlands, Peru, Senegal, Uganda, Vietnam. Two respondents were between the ages of 15-17, four were between the ages of 18-20, and seven were between the ages of 21-25. Respondents were identified by focal points at the Plan International office in each of the countries and were involved in existing youth engagement or advocacy programmes and networks.

Interviews took place over two weeks in May 2019 and were conducted remotely in a way identified by the girl or young women as convenient - either over the phone, WhatsApp or Skype. Young female staff working at Plan International Global Hub's Monitoring, Evaluation and Research team conducted the interviews, which typically lasted between 45 minutes – 1 hour. However, where there was simultaneous translation required, the interviews lasted between 1 hour 30 minutes to 2 hours. Where required, translation was provided by female Plan International staff from the Plan International office in that country.

Coding and thematic analysis was conducted on Microsoft Excel. A detailed coding list by theme was developed (including movie genre; main character identity; behaviours and characteristics of characters; portrayal of women and girls in the movie and entertainment media more broadly; power of characters by gender; effect of movie and portrayal of women and girls). These codes were later refined by frequency of occurrence of each theme in order to identify prevalent themes.

The films and TV series chosen by our interviewees do not form part of Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media's content analysis and are named in this report.

4.2. Ethics

Plan International has considerable experience working with and conducting research with children and young people and follow strict protocols on safeguarding and ethics. All processes in this research aligned to Plan International's Framework for Ethical Monitoring, Evaluation, Research and Learning and Global Policy for Safeguarding Children and Young People. In addition, an external ethics check was sought from independent child rights academics who approved all research within the project. In Senegal and South Sudan appropriate national and local ethical approval and permissions were obtained prior to the FGDs commencing.

The firms responsible for survey delivery also followed specific guidelines and international standards on research ethics, including obtaining permission to operate and conduct such surveys in each country. Survey participants were given the option to opt-in after being given details of the survey, and participants under 18 were required to seek parental approval.

For the five countries in which FGDs and the girls' photo project were carried out, informed consent was gathered for all participants prior to the start of data collection, including from parents/guardians for those under eighteen and unmarried. Researchers were trained on informed consent, confidentiality, anonymity and safeguarding procedures. Participatory tools for the FGDs and the girls' photo project were designed to minimise risks to participants, avoiding traumatic or sensitive topics and risks of disclosure, and to reduce power dynamics between facilitators and participants. In all FGDs, with the exception of Senegal, research teams were all female; in Senegal, for reasons of capacity, male notetakers were present whilst female researchers led discussions. The girls' photo project and KIIs were also led and facilitated by female researchers

When conducting the KIIs, informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to the day of the interview, and additionally informed consent from parents/guardians was obtained for those girls under 18. All interviewers for the KIIs were young women and are employed by Plan International Global Hub and have experience of research or interviews with children and young people.

4.3. Research Limitations

There are several limitations that must be considered, stemming from modalities, variations between countries and ethical considerations.

Firstly, due to ethical considerations and challenges with accessing younger children, especially using technology, this research project was only conducted with 15-25-year olds. Therefore, it does not tell us about girls in early adolescence where many critical challenges may be taking place.

The study comprises of different components and aims at shedding light on female leadership: how it is represented in society and how it is perceived by girls and young women. Different methods were used to do this and it was not comprehensive and could be considered as disjointed. None of the findings of representative component parts should be considered as being related to each other as they are all stand alone sets of findings and there were no intended overlaps of study respondents from the different components – if there were any, these were purely accidental.

The survey was only able to reach girls and young women who were literate and had access to technology and therefore would not have reached the most marginalised girls and young women. As a result, the findings are not generalisable across whole populations. Additionally, the survey only asked fifteen short, concise and closed questions which did not allow exploration into the nuances of leadership or follow-up on specific issues. However, these nuances emerged in the qualitative data. Finally, as the survey was administered remotely using online, telephone and SMS modalities, it is not possible to verify that all respondents were definitely female and within the 15-25-year-old age range, although there were requirements to confirm gender and age at the start of the survey.

Recruitment methods for the FGDs varied across countries. In all countries except for Japan, and to varying degrees, participants had access to Plan International programming. In Japan, some participants were youth members of Plan International Japan. These participants are, therefore, likely to have an increased awareness of issues around gender equality. Levels of experience and confidence in facilitation and notetaking skills varied considerably between the researchers engaged as data collectors across all five countries and sometimes within countries. Whilst all FGDs were audio recorded, there was some variation in the quality of the transcriptions and the translations into English. Similarly, when using translation, the original or cultural forms of expression used by a research participant can often be lost in the translation process. Lastly, FGDs are inherently limited when it comes to generalisability based on the small number of participants involved.

For the girls' photo project, there were variations in terms of photographs taken, and consequently the comparability of the photographs. In South Sudan in particular, girls and young women appear to have collected newspaper articles featuring women leaders instead of advertisements. As such, the number of photographs that met the requirements for coding were smaller in South Sudan. The quality of transcripts and notes capturing the girls and young women's discussion during a reflection workshop varied in style, quality and detail; the lack of consistency was taken into account during analysis. Finally, in the Dominican Republic, some of the discussions captured in notes did not reflect the advert they were referring to which made it difficult to capture the nuance or specifics of the discussion.

For the key informant interviews, the girls and young women interviewees were purposively selected by the relevant Plan International office in the country and were all are engaged with Plan International through existing youth engagement programmes. As a result, they all had awareness of gender and gender issues, albeit to different degrees, which is reflected in the data and their responses. The sample size target was 12 key informant interviews as this was deemed feasible given the timing restriction for the study, the varied locations and the number at which 'data saturation' is reached (i.e. little more information is gathered by including further subjects). In reality, 13 girls and young women were interviewed.

The translation and interpretation of the key informant interviews necessitated that in Senegal and the Dominican Republic, a translator was present during the interview and they translated simultaneously both the questions and the answers. On several occasions, it became apparent that the translators were summarizing the girls' or young woman's responses rather than translating them word for word. It is therefore important to note that the true meaning and nuance may have been lost in translation.

The focus of the key informant interview tools on movies meant that questions in the tool were centred around gender roles and female underrepresentation in relation to the girls and young women's favourite movie or TV series, and so some responses relate to the movie specifically rather than the media more widely. This has been taken into consideration during analysis and report writing.

Finally, this study acknowledges that there is considerable diversity in the way 'gender' is defined. In developing the methodology and approach to this research, the decision was made that there are significant ethical and safety issues associated with seeking out respondents who identify as lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex, queer and other such categories (LGBTIQ+) in the contexts of primary data collection (focus group discussions, key informant interviews and girls' photo project). In the content analysis of top-grossing films of 2018, it was also decided to limit the analysis to the binary definition of 'gender (male or female), as we felt a separate, more targeted study would be needed to do this type of investigation any justice. However, we have brought in this dimension of individuals with diverse sexual orientation and gender identity as part of the intersectional analysis of portrayals of main characters and characters portrayed as leaders.

5. FINDINGS

This section of the report presents the findings per each component of the study. In the next section there will be some analysis and comment on these findings and the implications for the research questions. This section first presents analysis from the survey alongside significant and interesting trends and variations between the five participating countries emerging from the qualitative data (FGDs) in relation to the girls' and young women's views on media and role-models.

What is important to note is that the mixed methods approach undertaken in the research allows for a combination of subjective and objective analysis based on gender and sex. While it is important for Plan International to understand the perceptions of girls and young women, this report also uses content analysis of advertisements and the entertainment media to objectively demonstrate the actual depiction of gender in advertising and film to complement what girls and young women say about the role models that influence them and the media they are exposed to on a daily basis. Therefore the findings below are set out according to the different components of the study, but taken as a whole, all the findings paint a picture of how advertising and film media continue to perpetuate gender inequality and how girls and young women perceive the influence that advertising and film has on them and their perceptions of female leadership.

5.1. What girls and young women say about media and role models

As noted above, this report is the second that has emerged from the full study into girls and young women's perceptions of female leadership, including a media analysis of female leadership and its influences. Therefore, some of the data collected for the first report released as part of the study is nonetheless relevant for this study to provide voice to issues on how girls and young women see the importance of role models and the influence the media has on their perceptions of female leadership.

The findings below have emerged from an analysis of the survey in 19 countries and the focus group discussions that were held with girls and young women in five of those 19 countries.

5.1.1. Girls' leadership role models in media

The survey conducted in 19 countries produced the following key findings relevant to this study:

A large majority of girls and young women (82.9%) say they have women leaders they admire as role models in media. Having women leaders as role models in media does not appear to vary by age or marital status but does appear to vary by level of education. Girls with tertiary education (86.9%) are the

most likely to say they have media role models, followed by girls who have completed high school (82.4%), primary school (74.6%). Girls with no schooling are the least likely to say they have media role models (68.4%). A greater percentage of girls with higher social standing (88.8%) than girls of middle (82.3%) or lower (76.9%) social standing say they have media role models who are women leaders.

Having a leadership role model in the media increases the likelihood that a girl or young woman aspires to be a leader in her career or country. Nearly nine-in-ten girls (87.3%) who aspire to be a leader in their career or job have women leaders as media role models, compared to 76.6% who do not aspire to leadership in their career or job. Nine in ten (90.2%) girls who aspire to be a leader in their career or job have a media role model compared to 81.1% of girls who do not have this aspiration.

When girls and young women who participated in the FGDs were asked to name the people who 'influence and inspire them', some named the role models in media. However, it is important to note that media role models were not the most commonly reported category of role models for girls and young women; role models in their family and community were far more frequently reported across all five countries (Dominican Republic, India, Japan, Senegal and South Sudan). In fact, in India and South Sudan there were hardly any references to media role models. However, it appears that, to some extent, media celebrities do influence and inspire girls and young women in the Dominican Republic, Senegal and Japan.

Singers, musicians and pop stars were the media role models most frequently mentioned by respondents. This was particularly prevalent in Japan; for example, one young woman mentioned admiring the Japanese singer, Yuki Kashiwagi, stating: *"I admire her spirit and it's my power source."* A number of female singers were also mentioned by girls and young women in the Dominican Republic and Senegal, including: Isabel Valdez, Rihanna, Jennifer Lopez, Beyoncé, Viviane and Aida Samb.ⁱⁱ

TV personalities were the next most commonly reported category of media role models. This category was particularly prevalent in Senegal where the reported role models included Kim Kardashian (an American TV star, entrepreneur and fashion designer) and Marichou (a Senegalese TV star). One young woman in the Dominican Republic also spoke about how Ana Maria Polo, the host of the Telemundo show "Caso Cerrado", inspired her because of the way she helps others.

"I'd like to be like her. I think she helps everyone who gets on her show to make the right decisions, that's why I admire her." Young woman, 18-22, Dominican Republic

Female actresses were also mentioned in Japan, Senegal and the Dominican Republic, including Emma Watson, Marilyn Monroe and Hony Estrella, to name a few. YouTubers were mentioned in Japan, and once in India, where a young woman (age 21-24) alludes to the role of a beauty YouTube channel inspiring her to set up her own beauty parlour.

5.1.1.1. The effect of role models on girls and young women

Although limited, some data from the FGDs offers a glimpse into the effect that role models can have on girls and young women. Girls and young women often reported being inspired by their role model's character traits, achievements or skills. This suggests that role models set a positive example to girls and young women, giving them someone to look up to.

The characteristics that girls and young women reported most admiring in role models were being kind and helping others, treating others equally and with compassion. These characteristics mirror those valued by girls and young women as important in female leaders, as uncovered in first part of this research study, *Taking the Lead*.

"I really appreciate everything she does for our community. She does everything to advance it. And I would like to be like her when I grow up." Girl, aged 15-18, Senegal

ⁱⁱ Girls and young women chose to name all role models in this section freely and voluntarily during the FGDs when asked to name people who 'influence and inspire them'.

"My role model is my mother so she is very important for me. I feel I'm nothing without her support. I want to bring positive changes in my society by getting inspiration from my mother as she is also a social worker." Young woman, aged 18-20 India

Girls and young women were also inspired by the hard-working and determined nature of their role models, their courage and fighting spirit. For example, a girl from Senegal referred to her female role model as a "fighter", and another from the Dominican Republic expressed admiration for how her mother had raised her children on her own.

"My mother... she is my role model, she is very hard-working, she raised all her children, us, on her own, working hard, she is still working hard now that we are grown up and she helps us, that's why my mum is my role model." Young woman, aged 18-22, Dominican Republic

Girls and young women also articulated the way in which their role models helped them to 'grow' and develop. Across all five countries, the emotional support, guidance or encouragement that their role models gave them was described as important, implying the value of having a role model who they knew, either in their family or community, for example.

"In life one needs a person to give us an example and to tell us "you can do it, do it you can do it" someone to encourage us." Young woman, aged 15-17, Dominican Republic

"The teacher in charge of the club was an inspiring person ... I felt that I grew as a person through after-class club activities." Young woman, aged 15-20, Japan

In Senegal, South Sudan and the Dominican Republic, girls and young women also alluded to how their role models help them to build confidence in themselves and their abilities and potential to succeed.

"My mother; she inspires confidence in one's self, solidarity and love which she instilled in me." Young woman, aged 17-20, Senegal

The available data also suggests that, to some extent, role models inspired girls and young women's future aspirations and goals. This theme particularly emerged from the FGDs that took place in India.ⁱⁱⁱ Ranging from family members who had successful careers, to past and current leaders, girls and young women referred to the importance of role models in inspiring their career ambitions and leadership aspirations.

"I want to serve my country and want to do work for my country. I'm inspired by Mahatma Gandhi. As even after his death we all admire him." Girl, aged 15-17, India

This links closely with the inspiration that girls and young women drew from role models who had successfully overcome gender barriers. For example, some girls and young women in Dominican Republic, Senegal, South Sudan and India alluded to how their female role models had gone against the grain in terms of expectations of women. The examples shared by girls and young women included female role models successfully balancing both a career and a family, pursuing a conventionally male career or raising a family on her own.

"Eva of Pod and Marichou [TV star] because I can see she embodies power by combining social and professional lives and for my future life I do not want to stay at home only to take care of children but ensuring the two. That's why I cited her as a reference." Young woman, aged 18-22, Senegal

This suggests that role models are important in showing girls that it is possible to be successful in their career and achieve their ambitions, despite society attempting to hold them back. For example, one girl in South Sudan spoke about the positive example that her aunt set to her as a pilot.

ⁱⁱⁱ It is worthwhile noting that India applied a more directed approach in their FGDs than the other four participating countries where girls and young women were first asked to describe future aspirations and then asked who inspired them to have these aspirations.

"My aunt has aspired me to be a pilot because she is and I have a big hope that I will make it because if others can why not me." Young woman, aged 21-24, South Sudan

Another theme that emerged, but was less prevalent than those already mentioned, centred around education. In all countries it was mentioned at least once that role models played an important role in girls and young women's education - particularly through encouragement to study and work hard, to stay in school, the importance of education or even providing financial support through paying school fees or other resources such as books and resources.

5.2. Film Media Content Analysis

This section of the report presents findings from content analysis of the top-grossing films of 2018. Before discussing the findings, it is important to consider the following key characteristics of these films:

• **Ratings:** One-in-five films (20.4%) were rated PG, meaning they are appropriate for a general audience. Close to half (46.5%) were rated PG-13, meaning they are suitable for people ages 13 and older. One-in-five (18.2%) were rated R, meaning they were suitable for people ages 17 and older. The remaining films in the dataset were not rated.

Language: The vast majority of top-grossing films (80.7%) were English language films. 10.7% of the movies were Hindi language films, while the remainder (8.6%) were Spanish language films.

• Location of movie production: The vast majority (68.8%) of the top-grossing films across the globe are produced in the United States, which means that this country has a disproportionate influence in shaping conceptions of women's leadership (and cultural norms more broadly). Bollywood accounted for 10.7% of the top-grossing films in 2018. However it is argued that the dataset is actually a good reflection of global films. Given that we generated our sample somewhat randomly (we selected countries by region), this means our findings are a solid representation of the top-grossing films globally (and not just a function of the fact that a majority were produced in the U.S).

Furthermore, some high-level analysis on the box office and crews for top-grossing films provides further context to the findings. In terms of box office, the top-grossing films of 2018 globally earned an average of \$402 million at the box office. Films with female lead(s) earned less at the global box office than films with male leads (\$253 million compared to \$387 million), while films with male and female co-leads grossed the most (\$764 million).

When analysing the crew of top-grossing films, none of the top-grossing films of 2018 were directed by a woman. One-in-four (24.1%) had at least one female producer, and 10.1% had at least one woman on the writing team. However, contrasting to existing research, for the top-grossing films of 2018, no relationship was found between the presence of women producers or writers and the casting of female leads in the top-grossing films. Similarly, no relationship between the presence of women producers or writers and the percent of female characters in the cast in the top-grossing films.

5.2.1. Gender and characters in top-grossing films

Overall, the top-grossing films of 2018 reflect the same gender biases that researchers have documented for decades. Male characters in the top-grossing films outnumber female characters two-to-one (67.1% compared to 32.9%). This varied by location, with the top-grossing films in North America (25.9%) having fewer female speaking characters than the top-grossing films in other regions. When it comes to speaking time, male characters speak twice as often as female characters in the top-grossing films (66.6% compared to 33.3%). In terms of screen time, male characters appear twice as often as female characters (64.2% compared to 35.7%)

Gender	Overall Percentage (n=1,859)	Films in Africa (n=954)	Films in Europe (n=644)	Films in N. America (n=336)	Films in L. America (n=636)	Films in Asia (n=985)
Male Characters	67.1%	69.3%	70.2%	74.1%	66.7%	69.6%
Female Characters	32.9%	30.7%	29.8%	25.9%	33.3%	30.4%

Table 4: Percentage of characters by gender

5.2.2. Intersectionality in the top-grossing films

In addressing the rights and empowerment of women and girls, it is important to recognize the complexity of their lives and the range of intersecting barriers they face. Girls and women, like all people, are not defined solely by their age and sex. Each individual can identify with, or be associated with, a range of social categories that overlap and intersect. Unpacking such intersecting identities is key to a more comprehensive understanding of discrimination and exclusion, because a person's experience of exclusion is often greater than the sum of all parts.

Nearly half (46.6%) of the characters in the top-grossing films of 2018 were white/ European descent, the largest ethnic group by a wide margin. The second largest ethnic group was South/Southeast Asian characters (14.0%), followed by Latinx (10.7%) and Black/ African descent (10.6%) characters. Fewer characters were Other Asian (7.4%) or Middle Eastern (1.5%).

By region, the top-grossing films in Asia have more South/Southeast Asian and Other Asian characters than films in other regions. The top-grossing films in North America (62.8%) and Africa (62.1%) have more white characters than films in other regions. Latinx characters are best represented in films in Latin America (18.4%), followed by films in Europe (11.6%) and Asia (7.8%). Few characters in the top films in Africa and North America feature Latinx characters.

Table 5: Percentage of cha	aracters by ethnicity	with a req	ional break down
Table J. Fercentage of cha	aracters by etimology	y, will a reg	Ional bleak uown

Ethnicity ^{iv}	Overall Percentage (n=1,859)	Films in Africa (n=954)	Films in Europe (n=644)	Films in N. America (n=336)	Films in L. America (n=636)	Films in Asia (n=985)
South/Southeast Asian	14.0%	1.5%	1.4%	2.7%	0.6%	26.0%
White/ European descent	46.6%	62.1%	54.7%	62.8%	42.3%	39.2%
Latinx	10.7%	2.2%	11.6%	1.2%	18.4%	7.8%
Black/ African descent	10.6%	15.8%	14.8%	19.6%	14.3%	10.5%
Other Asian	7.4%	4.3%	2.3%	2.7%	6.8%	12.6%
Middle Eastern	1.5%	2.8%			0.2%	0.1%

Most characters in the top-grossing films are in their 30s (25.0%) and 40s (22.2%). Few characters are children (5.3%) or teens (4.4%).

Taking region into account, the top-grossing films in Asia have more characters in their 20s (16.9%) than the top-grossing films in other regions. The top-grossing films in North America (4.8%) and Asia (5.3%) have fewer characters ages 60 and older than the top-grossing films in other regions.

Age ^v	Overall Percentage (n=1,859)	Films in Africa (n=954)	Films in Europe (n=644)	Films in N. America (n=336)	Films in L. America (n=636)	Films in Asia (n=985)
Child (0 - 12)	5.3%	4.7%	5.7%	6.5%	6.0%	4.7%
Teen (13 - 19)	4.4%	4.3%	2.0%	2.4%	4.2%	4.3%
20s	15.2%	13.3%	13.2%	12.5%	13.4%	16.9%
30s	25.0%	27.5%	24.8%	29.2%	25.0%	23.2%
40s	22.2%	22.9%	19.4%	24.4%	23.1%	23.9%
50s	10.8%	9.9%	11.6%	8.9%	9.3%	11.7%
60+	6.7%	8.0%	7.5%	4.8%	7.1%	5.3%

Table 6: Percentage of	l a la ava atava la	a serie a suddle s	, we also used to use a look a course
Table 6: Percentage of	characters n	v ane with a	regional preakgown
		y ugo, mun c	

^{iv} Percentages may not add up to 100% because some characters are another ethnicity or mixed.

^v Percentages may not add up to 100% because some characters had multiple ages in the film or are robots or animals, so age does not apply.

When it comes to characters with diverse sexual orientations and gender identities in the top-grossing films of 2018, very few characters are portrayed as lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, or queer. Only 1% of characters are portrayed as lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, or queer in the top-grossing films.

Diverse sexual orientation and gender identity	Overall Percentage (n=1,859)
Lesbian	0.1%
Gay	0.4%
Bi-sexual	0.2%
Queer	0.3%

Table 7: Percentage of characters with diverse sexual orientation and gender identity

5.2.3. Genres of top-grossing films

Overall, 39.8% of the top-grossing films across the globe in 2018 are action/disaster films. Comedies and social dramas came in a distant second, 15.9% and 15.5%, respectively.

In terms of breakdown by region, more of the top-grossing films in North America (81.3%) are action/disaster than films in other regions. Comedies (18.9%) are more popular in Latin American than other regions. Social dramas (24.6%) are more popular in Asia than other regions. Fantasy films (15.4%) are more popular in Europe than other regions. Finally, adventure films are more popular in Africa (10.3%) and Latin America (10.7%) than other regions.

Genre	Overall Percentage (n=1,859)	Films in Africa (n=954)	Films in Europe (n=644)	Films in N. America (n=336)	Films in L. America (n=636)	Films in Asia (n=985)
Action/Disaster	39.8%	51.3%	44.9%	81.3%	56.9%	48.3%
Comedy	15.9%	11.6%	8.9%	8.3%	18.9%	3.8%
Social Drama	15.5%	4.8%	4.7%			24.6%
Fantasy	7%	3.2%	15.4%		5.0%	10.1%
Adventure	6.9%	10.3%	5.9%		10.7%	3.0%
Detective/Courtroom Drama	4.0%		6.4%			3.5%
Thriller	3.1%	6.1%			5.0%	3.2%
Romance	3.0%	5.8%	8.5%			
Horror	2.9%	3.2%			3.5%	
Coming Of Age Drama	1.9%	3.7%	5.4%	10.4%		3.6%

Table 8: Percentage of films by genre, with a regional breakdown

5.2.4. Objectification of female characters

Overall, analysis shows that female characters are more likely than male characters to be sexually objectified in the top-grossing films of 2018:

- Female characters are far more likely to be shown in revealing clothing than male characters (26.1% compared to 7.2%).
- Female characters are also more likely to be partially or fully nude than male characters (14.6% compared to 8.7%).
- Female characters are more likely to be visually objectified than male characters (9.3% compared to 4.8%).
- Female characters are far more likely to be verbally objectified than male characters (9.7% compared to 2.0%).

5.2.5. Portrayals of workplace leaders

Findings from the media content analysis show that men are more likely to be shown as leaders in the workplace^{vi} than women (31.5% compared to 18.8%). However, when female leaders are portrayed, there are some differences in their portrayals compared to male leaders:

- Female leaders are more likely to be portrayed as hard working defined as having a responsible and diligent work ethic than male leaders in the workplace (90.9% compared to 75.5%).
- More female leaders are shown as smart than male leaders in the workplace (81.1% compared to 69.0%).
- Female leadership in the workplace is more likely to be shown as effective defined as producing desired and intended results than male leadership in the workplace (20.8% compared to 15.3%).
- Female leaders in the workplace are shown as more "likeable" defined as the degree to which a person is liked by others than male leaders in the workplace (57.4% compared to 49.3%).
- Linked to this, female leaders are portrayed as more respected defined as the degree to which a person elicits feelings of deep admiration for their abilities, qualities, or achievements than male leaders in the workplace (78.7% compared to 70.1%).
- Male and female leaders in the workplace are equally likely to be shown as achieving a healthy work-life balance.
- Finally, 4.9% of female leaders are shown as experiencing sexual harassment compared to 0.7% of male leaders, in their career or job.

5.2.6. Portrayals of country leaders

Men and women are equally likely to be shown as leaders in their country^{vii} (4.6% and 4.0%, respectively). When comparing the portrayals of female and male country leaders, the following findings emerged:

- Female leaders in their country are more likely to be portrayed as hard working than male leaders (100% compared to 76.2%).
- More female leaders are shown as smart than male leaders in their country (88.9% compared to 76.2%).
- Male leaders in their country are shown as more effective than female leaders (57.1% compared to 44.4%).
- Female leaders in their country are shown as more "likeable" than male leaders in their country (77.8% compared to 61.9%).
- Male leaders in their country are portrayed as more respected than female leaders (76.2% compared to 66.7%).
- Male and female leaders in their country are equally likely to be shown as achieving a healthy work-life balance.
- No male or female leaders in their country are shown as experiencing sexual harassment.

Few characters in film are shown as leaders in their countries, and this does not vary by gender. However, female country leaders are shown as harder working, smarter, and more "likeable" than male leaders. Male country leaders are shown as more effective and more respected than female country leaders. Sexual harassment is not shown as a condition for women's leadership at a national level.

5.2.7. Portrayals of community leaders

Male characters are more likely to be shown as leaders in their community^{viii} than female characters (13.1% compared to 7.2%). When comparing female and male community leaders, the following findings emerged:

^{vi} A character is considered to be a workplace leader if others followed his or her behaviour and/or directives in their (non-political) career or job. This does not apply to formal political positions such as Prime Minister or member of Congress (which is captured in the next section).

^{vii} A character is considered to be a leader if others followed his or her behaviour and/or directives in a political job, such as Prime Minister or member of congress, or other national leaders.

viii A character is considered to be a leader if others followed his or her behaviour and/or directives in a community leadership position (e.g., mayor, city council member) or an informal position (e.g., community organizer).

- Female leaders in their community are more likely to be portrayed as hard working than male leaders (93.8% compared to 83.1%).
- More female leaders in their community are shown as smart than male leaders (87.5% compared to 74.1%).
- Female leaders in their community are shown as more effective than male leaders (81.3% compared to 74.6%).
- Female leaders in their community are shown as more "likeable" than male leaders (93.8% compared to 74.1%).
- Female leaders in their community are portrayed as more respected than male leaders (87.5% compared to 72.9%).
- Male and female leaders in their community are equally likely to be shown as achieving a healthy work-life balance.

1.7% male community leaders are portrayed as experiencing sexual harassment, while 6.3% of female community leaders experience sexual harassment.

Overall, analysis suggests that male characters are more likely to be shown as community leaders in the top-grossing films, but female characters in these positions are shown in a more positive light. Female community leaders are shown as harder working, smarter, more effective, more "likeable," and more respected than male community leaders. Sexual harassment is shown as a condition of women's leadership at the community level.

5.2.8. Portrayals of Family Leaders

Women are more likely to be shown as leaders in the family^{ix} than men (17.9% compared to 13.1%). When comparing portrayals of male and female leaders:

- Female leaders in their family are more likely to be portrayed as hard working than male leaders (72.5% compared to 64.4%).
- Male and female leaders are equally likely to be shown as smart in their family leadership role.
- Female leaders in their family are shown as more effective than male leaders (67.6% compared to 62.1%).
- Female leaders in their family are shown as more "likeable" than male leaders (85.0% compared to 67.2%).
- Female leaders in their family are equally likely to be respected as male leaders. No male leaders in their family are portrayed as experiencing sexual harassment, but 4.7% of female leaders as shown as experiencing this in their family leadership role.

Portrayals of family leadership fit with cultural stereotypes of women as primary caregivers. More female characters are shown as leaders in their family, and they are also shown as harder working, more effective, and more "likeable."

5.2.9. Overall leadership portrayals

Overall, 37.1% of characters in the top-grossing films are portrayed as leaders in their workplace, community, or country. The gender analysis in this section centres on portrayals of the 253 characters who are shown as leaders in at least one of these capacities.

- Male characters are more likely to be shown as leaders than female characters (42.1% compared to 26.9%).
- Overall, more female leaders are shown as hard working than male leaders (83.1% compared to 72.8%).
- More female leaders are shown as intelligent than male leaders (81.4% compared to 61.9%).
- Female leaders are far more likely than male leaders to be shown wearing revealing clothing (30.0% compared to 7.3%).
- Female leaders are nearly twice as likely to be shown as partially nude than male leaders (15.0% compared to 8.4%).

^{ix} A character is considered to be a leader if others followed his or her behaviour and/or directives in their family.

- Characters who are female leaders are more likely to be shown as fully nude at some point in the film than male leaders (1.7% compared to 0.5%).
- Female leaders are more likely to sexually objectified^x using camera angles than male leaders (15.0% compared to 4.2%).
- Female leaders are more likely to verbally objectified^{xi} by other characters than male leaders (13.3% compared to 1.6%).
- Female leaders are more likely to be sexually harassed than male leaders (5.1% compared to 1.1%).^{xii}

When it comes to overall leadership portrayals, male characters are more likely to be shown as leaders than female characters. This sends the message that leadership is primarily a male domain. And while female leaders are generally shown in a more positive light than male leaders (with the exception of national leaders), female leaders are far more likely to be sexually objectified. Female leaders are more likely to be shown in revealing clothing, partially or fully nude, and objectified with camera angles and by other characters. Female leaders are also far more likely to be sexually harassed than male leaders, which implies that sexual harassment is a condition of women's leadership.

5.2.10. Intersectional Analysis of Female Leaders

The remainder of this section centres on portrayals of the 60 female characters who are shown as leaders in their job or career, country, or community.

5.2.10.1. Ethnicity

About half (48.3%) of the female leaders in the top-grossing films globally are white/ European descent. Very few female leaders are Latinx (8.3%) or South/Southeast Asian (5.0%). None of the female leaders in the top-grossing films of 2018 are Middle Eastern women.

Table 9: Percentage of female leaders, by ethnicity

Ethnicity of Female Leaders	Percentage
South/Southeast Asian	5.0%
White/ European descent	48.3%
Latinx	8.3%
Black/ African descent	16.7%
Other Asian	13.3%
Middle Eastern	
Other/ Mixed	8.4%

5.2.10.2. Age

When it comes to age, almost no female leaders in the top-grossing films are children (1.7%) or teen girls (1.7%). About one-in-three female leaders in the top-grossing films is in her 20s (30.0%) or 30s (28.3%). Very few female leaders are in their 50s or older (10.0%).

Table 10: Percentage of female leaders, by age

Age of Female Leaders	Overall Percentage
Child (0 - 12)	1.7%
Teen (13 - 19)	1.7%
20s	30.0%
30s	28.3%
40s	20.0%
50s	8.3%
60+	1.7%

^{*} Sexual objectification is the act of treating a person as an instrument of sexual pleasure. Objectification more broadly means treating a person as a commodity or an object without regard to their personality or dignity.

^{xi} Verbal sexual objectification can come in many forms, including cat calling and comments a character makes about another character's appearance to a third party.

xⁱⁱ Despite the analysis for workplace, community and country showing that there was no male sexual harassment, this finding shows that 1.1% of male leaders are likely to be sexually harassed. The difference in calculation is a function of a) combining two questions (on verbal harassment and sexual harassment), and b) rounding down.

5.2.10.3. Diverse sexual orientation and gender identity

Only one of the 60 female leaders in the top-grossing films of 2018 is portrayed as lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, or queer —a bi-sexual woman.

Diverse sexual orientation and gender identity	Overall Percentage
Lesbian	
Gay	
Bi-sexual	1.7%
Queer	

Table 11: Percentage of female leaders with diverse sexual orientation and gender identity

5.3. Key Informant Interviews

This section complements media content analysis by providing insights into entertainment media and its representation of gender and female leaders – including films and TV series – from the perspective of 13 girls and young women from seven countries.

5.3.1. The importance of entertainment media

All thirteen girls and young women interviewed for this component of the study mentioned that TV series are the type of entertainment media they are most likely to access. A few of the interviewees mentioned accessing TV series through streaming sites such as Netflix.

Evidence from the interviews suggests that girls and young women engage with entertainment media regularly. The majority of girls and young women reported accessing entertainment media every day, and the remaining interviewees reported that they access it at least twice a week.

All girls and young women, except for one, said that entertainment media was important to them. For example, some girls and young women described how entertainment media helps them to relax after a day at school or work and can lift their mood. Other interviewees referred to the role of entertainment media in providing them with access to information, with one young woman recognising the power that media holds in shaping worldviews.

"I guess like media does have a lot of power over our thoughts and like, how we see the world. So I think it plays like a significant part of my life." Young woman, 18, Canada

All girls and young woman across all seven participating countries said that entertainment media has a significant impact on the lives of young people in their society. They often spoke about how young people find role models in entertainment media, and over a third of the interviewees said young people liked to mimic what these role models do on screen in terms of actions, behaviours or beauty and image, for example.

"Here in Senegal young people are looking very often at programmes and TV series. It's a part of their life, they make some role models through these series." Young woman, 23, Senegal

"I think there is a big influence, youngsters can see what's happening all over the world in terms of beauty standards and how you should behave or not and I think a lot of youngsters see things that they directly try to copy and therefore very influential I think." Young woman, 24, Netherlands

5.3.2. What girls and young women see in the chosen movies

Girls and young women were asked to name a movie that they know well, like or would consider their favourite movie, to discuss in the interview. In some instances, girls and young women opted instead to name a TV show. It should be noted that not all films/TV series mentioned were necessarily considered the interviewee's favourite; on a couple of occasions, we expect that girls and young women named films/TV series that made an impression on them.

Table 12: Movies/TV shows chosen by girls and young women for discussion during interviews

Film	Release date(s) ^{xiii}	Film or TV series
A Walk to Remember	2002	Film
Beauty and the Beast	2017	Film
Brimstone	2016	Film
Fifty Shades of Grey	2015	Film
Harry Potter	2001 - 2011	Films
Her Private Life	2019	TV series
Jane the Virgin	2014-2019	TV series
Maitresse d'un Homme Marié	Unknown	TV series
Summer Forever	2015	Film
Ten Things I Hate About You	1999	Film
The Avengers	2018	Film
The Perks of Being a Wallflower	2012	Film
Vikram Vedha	2017	Film

5.3.2.1. Popular genres

Over half of the girls and young women interviewed identified their chosen film or TV show as romance themed. After this, choices were varied with drama slightly ahead of others as the next most commonly identified genre.

5.3.2.2. Main characters, gender and social identity

Most of the films chosen by girls and young women included both male and female main characters. Of all the main characters mentioned by girls and young women, just over half were men, which could be attributed in part to the popularity of the romance genre. In fact, the female main character was frequently reported to be depicted as the 'romantic interest' of the man. This was alluded to by over half of the interviewees in the following films: Perks of Being a Wallflower, Her Private Life, Ten Things I Hate About You, Beauty and the Beast, Fifty Shades of Grey, A Walk to Remember and Jane the Virgin.

Girls and young women revealed a bit about other aspects of the main characters' identities. Social standing was mentioned in nine out of the 13 movies/TV shows. However, this was mentioned in basic terms and was not described as central to the plot. Often, social standing was part of a wider romantic storyline – for example, the girl or boy was from a poor background whilst the other was rich.

"So, it's basically about a female character who comes from a much poorer family and so she sort of works to build her own life and she falls in love with like reading and a lot of other things while growing up... the Beast... I think grew up pretty privileged." Young woman, 18, Canada (Beauty and the Beast)

Some girls and young woman remarked on the lack of ethnic diversity in the main characters, an issue they also observed more broadly in entertainment media, as will be described further in section 5.3.6.

5.3.2.3. Gender stereotypes of men and women in the chosen film/TV series

Girls and young women were asked to describe the main characteristics and behaviours of the characters they identified in their chosen movie/TV series. When asked to reflect on whether these characteristics were 'gender stereotypical', there was a mixed response: eight characters were reported to reflect stereotypical behaviours, whereas nine were reported to not reflect stereotypical behaviours.^{xiv} Six of the interviewees were conflicted before deciding on their response, and discussed how their characters displayed both gender stereotypical and non-stereotypical behaviours.

xiii Source: IMDB, https://www.imdb.com/

xiv The number of characters described in each interview varied, with most interviewees describing characteristics of two characters, whereas in some instances interviewees only described one character, and others three.

The majority of girls and young women who spoke about male characters said that they did reflect male stereotypes. This included being powerful and more successful in their careers than the female character.

"When he was investigating the case^{xv} he would never, take a step back but he wants his wife to take her step back....That shows that he has superiority over her... It shows masculine behaviour, he shows authority over his wife. She needs to compromise upon her career but he does not." Young woman, 20, India (Vikram Vedha)

Three interviewees also spoke about male characters asserting authority over others and women, often in an aggressive way.

"So I think in the beginning, he is quite aggressive...I guess it's sort of the stereotypical portrayal of men in a lot of entertainment that they sort of have power over the people around them especially protagonist and that they sort of have the ability to do whatever they want." Young woman, 18, Canada (Beauty and the Beast)

On the other hand, most interviewees said that their chosen female characters were a positive representation of women, citing characteristics such as being intelligent, determined, confident and courageous, strong and fierce. They concluded that, for the most part, these female characters acted in ways different to society's expectations of women or the usual representation of women in entertainment media.

"Hermione is determined, she's intelligent and smart and for me she is not acting like what the society wants the girls or women to act." Young woman, 22, Senegal (Harry Potter)

"She's really confident in herself. She gets a little bit angry when she is faced with people who are kind of ignorant or patronising and misogynistic....I think they've done a really good job of making a female character who has her own personality and her own characteristics that don't necessarily fit with how we usually see women." Girl, 17, Canada (Ten Things I Hate About You)

"When I think of typical female behaviours, or at least what others think about it, it is very 'girly' and sometimes making the personality of the character a bit more 'stupid'?... But in this movie she has this shorter hair like this pixie cut thing, and she is quite clever and she is witty. So I would say that she has a different personality than a typical female character in movies, at least romantic movies." Young woman, 25, Netherlands (The Perks of Being A Wallflower)

However, there were still a number of female characters reported to reflect gender stereotypical behaviours or traits, which included being obedient, caring and respectful. Interviewees also reflected on the appearance and image of their female characters, often remarking that they adhered to stereotypically feminine appearances, wearing dresses and makeup.

"Her main characteristic is that she's really good to other people and she has good behaviour... especially to her boss." Young woman, 21, Vietnam (Her Private Life)

"The youngest one, she is really focused, staying on top of things, organised, caring...and the grandmother is also caring I think... It's kind of like a girl's thing, a women's thing to care... So in that sense, it is kind of a stereotypical portrait of women. In appearance, they are really female with dresses and make up stuff like that." Young woman, 23, Netherlands (Jane the Virgin)

Interestingly, whilst most interviewees said that whilst female characters demonstrated non-gender stereotypical behaviour, their image and external appearance were often conforming to societal constructs of beauty and femininity. This included being "pretty", having a body that "every woman would like to have" and being "slim", as demonstrated in the two quotes below.

"So the character's name is Black Widow and well, she has, you know, the body structure that supposedly every woman would like to have. She has fair skin, green eyes and she has red hair.

^{xv} This related to a crime movie in which the main character is an investigator.

Well, she is definitely not very feminine. Especially when she gets involved in the battle because she is very... fierce and like she fights like she was any other guy, and so that is not typically very feminine." Girl, 17, Peru (The Avengers)

"But one characteristic I think that is like is quite different is probably the fact that she's brave and like continues to do things that people aren't a 100% accepting of. And she doesn't like conform to everyone else's belief. Yeah, I do think that her appearance is like pretty stereotypical with the brown hair... And like a slim body and all of that." Young woman, 18, Canada (Beauty and the Beast)

5.3.2.4. Powerholders in the film

When asked to reflect on who held 'the power' in the movie, the majority of the girls and young women responded that the female characters were powerholders; and if they did not hold power at the beginning of the movie, they will have gained power at the end. Some girls remarked that both men and women had power in their films, and that this was positive and negative depending on the character they had chosen.

"She shows she doesn't need a man in her life. She wants to be powerful. She has a good job, her work is not typical in Senegal for woman also, it is work for men because she is in construction of houses." Young woman, 23, Senegal

One young woman also linked power to social class and background.

"It is pretty evident that both characters have an upper social class, they have power and they have money." Girl, 17, Peru (The Avengers)

5.3.3. Portrayals of women and girls in entertainment media more broadly

Whilst most interviewees believed that the overall portrayal of the main female characters in their favourite movie was positive, they did not think this was generally true for entertainment media more broadly. The majority of girls and young women reported negative portrayals of women and girls in movies/TV shows – both those movies/TV shows they discussed and movies/TV shows more generally in their context. They spoke about how women are often portrayed in traditional roles, such as in nurturing or caring positions, taking care of the household.

"Women and girls in general in the movie are sort of....taking care of the household and looking nice and sort of like...just doing the basic things that people expect a female to do. Like I don't really see women doing anything outside like the stereotype..." Young woman, 18, Canada

Interviewees also reported how the storyline of the female lead character was often linked to 'finding love'.

"Yes, in all the movies that I have seen that I have watched... when it comes to a girl or female character its always about her love life story or love story or something related to her marriage." Young woman, 21, Vietnam

Finally, two interviewees from Uganda also remarked that women were often perceived as weak in movies, needing help from men and boys to achieve a goal or objective.

"Yeah, they often show women in that kind of perspective. Because all the movies I see the girls need help from the male or the boys. And girls don't end up achieving, but boys end up achieving what they want in the movies." Young woman, 19, Uganda

"It's really negative. I think it's negative cause I believe we girls, we don't need help from the males as they think...And actually here in Uganda we have a saying that behind every successful man, there is a woman. People just put us behind." Young woman, 19, Uganda

5.3.4. Underrepresentation of women in leadership roles

Most of the girls and young women interviewed recognised that women are underrepresented in entertainment media, across the world and in their context. Firstly, interviewees remarked on the lack of women in leading roles in movies, with the main characters often given to men. When women and girls

are given prominent roles in movies, they are often secondary to the man, lack depth of character or were the romantic interest of the man, according to some interviewees.

"It's a rarity to find a movie where it's an all-female cast or mostly female cast, usually the women are just additions and for the most part as a romantic interest. They can easily be taken out of the movie and the movie will do just fine." Girl, 17, Canada

Five interviewees also said that female characters are not shown, or very rarely shown, as leaders or in leadership positions in entertainment media.

"Yeah! Men are in most leadership posts than women. Let me say, even other movies that I watch, it's very hard to watch a movie saying that the president....is a woman, he's a man! So, I think men are taking charge." Young woman, 19, Uganda

"Like they don't show women in leadership, and they don't show women as role models like they just show them as sort of the followers of men, in a sense." Young woman, 18, Canada

However, according to one interviewee, when women were shown in leadership positions, they were portrayed in a negative light and were not positive role models.

"I can't think of any movies where women are in leadership positions and that's seen as a positive thing... There is this movie when [female character] is in this leadership position because she is the CEO of an editing firm or a publishing firm but she is seen as uptight and controlling. She is portrayed really in this negative light when she is in a leadership position." Girl, 17, Canada

Girls and young women were read out a statement about the underrepresentation of women in leadership positions in Hollywood movies during the interview.^{xvi} When asked whether the statistics surprised them, a number of interviewees remarked that it didn't because the lack of women in leadership positions that they saw in movies or TV was also reflected in the world around them. In reality, they see few women in politics or as CEOs of companies, for example.

"Well, not really, because it's also like what we see in like the real world today as well. Like right now, there... females aren't in the top leadership positions almost like anywhere in the world, and like... even female representation in politics is much lower than men, and I think that sort of translates onto our like entertainment. And I think it creates like this vicious cycle." Young woman, 18, Canada

In particular, a number of interviewees expressed how entertainment media mirrors the reality of societal and gender norms and expectations of men as capable leaders, discrimination against women in leadership and the denial of leadership opportunities for women and girls.

"I think also in society, there is still the idea that men are more capable of being leaders and the media touches upon that." Young woman, 23, Netherlands

"Actually, that's how it has been. I've been seeing this all the way from my childhood, seeing that women are not given the opportunity to speak." Young woman, 19, Uganda

"Because usually when we talk about a leader I still come up with a man. I still think about a man. [This idea] It's really popular... people think that men are more powerful." Young woman, 21, Vietnam

^{xvi} The statement read was as follows: "We know from previous research that women and girls in movies (and media more broadly) are less likely to be shown in leadership roles than men and boys. Research in America showed that, in Hollywood movies in 2018, audiences were almost twice as likely to see male characters as female characters. The same research found that women and girls characters comprised 26% of leaders, while males accounted for 74% of leaders." Source: Women and Hollywood, '2018 Statistics', *Women and Hollywood* [website], https://womenandhollywood.com/resources/statistics/2018-statistics/, accessed 16 July 2019.

"Yes, it is bit surprising. But then it is the same if you take the point of India, always males are very confident with their things where the females are being put down." Young woman, 20, India

According to one interviewee, when women were given leading positions in movies, which went against such gender norms, there was a backlash from the general public that the characters were bad leaders and had negative leadership traits, such as being "controlling"; yet, if the same character was given to a man, the same criticisms would not be given, according to one interviewee.

"So, in Captain Marvel... it came out recently and its one of the first superhero movies where it's just a female other than 'Wonder Woman' and she really has this quality of character and she's incredible and it's a role model for so many girls. [But] Everyone is talking about how she is controlling, and other people are saying her character is too much but when we have these male characters in those position of power and they are applauded...These are the characters we like to see in men on film but when they are portrayed in women we get uncomfortable." Girl, 17, Canada

5.3.5. Objectification of women

Some women and girls also described the sexual objectification of women that they saw in films – both the films that they named and the entertainment media more broadly. For example, one young woman from Uganda discussed how the female main character in Fifty Shades of Grey is reduced to a sexual object and a possession of the male character. She also discussed how the female character was more likely to be shown fully nude, which aligns with analysis of the top-grossing films of 2018 presented in section 5.2.4.

"They never showed Mr Grey's nakedness and they showed Anna's nakedness. And... actually that shows that women have been observed to be presented as objects of sex." Young woman, 22, Uganda (Fifty Shades of Grey)

Other girls and young women from Canada and the Netherlands also discussed sexual objectification of women in entertainment media, with scenes where men objectify women, whether through staring or catcalling, more subtly repeated throughout films and TV series and other forms of entertainment media.

"Like a lot of the times we see like men objectifying women in [TV] shows...like we often see women walking and a man watching her as she walks away, that's a like a very common scene we see in movies and shows... and things like that sort of just adds to the discrimination and this like unequal power balance." Young woman, 18, Canada

5.3.6. Lack of diversity on screen

Young women and girls reported seeing a real lack of diversity on their screens, even when women are included in prominent roles. This particularly centred around ethnicity, with some girls and young women referring to predominantly white casts and leading roles. This was mentioned explicitly by the two girls interviewed in Canada and two girls in the Netherlands.

"I think when we don't have a lot of representation, then of course don't have a lot of representation of different types of women because we can hardly get women on screen in the first place so there is not enough time to put other races or personalities in there... As a visible minority I can say that I never saw anyone that was on screen that looked like me." Girl, 17, Canada

"Especially because of the lack of differences in race... all three [characters] they are white and it's this coming of age movie. I think, I also read an article on this so I'm a bit biased but a lot of these coming of age movies are about white young people." Young woman, 25, Netherlands (The Perks of Being a Wallflower)

Other girls and young women referred to the lack of diversity in terms of social standing and background with most characters they saw on screens coming from middle-class or privileged backgrounds. One interviewee also remarked about the lack of diversity in terms of sexual orientation and gender identity.

"I think people with different backgrounds [they] could do that better...Because we know people come from rich backgrounds, people come from poor backgrounds... So if you pull these people together you can get a real thing." Young woman, 19, Uganda

"Almost all the main characters there is one black woman character but I think other than that, all female and male characters are white. They are all typically or conventionally attractive, all quite skinny. They all have their own cars and everything so they are all stereotypical I guess middle class white and straight." Girl, 17, Canada (Ten Things I Hate About You)

5.3.7. The effect of portrayals and underrepresentation on girls and young women

The majority of the interviewees said the way women and girls were portrayed in their chosen movie or TV show had a positive effect on them, with a few describing the main characters personalities and traits as particularly inspiring for them in their lives. Only two interviewees from Peru and Vietnam described their chosen movies as having a negative effect on them.

"When I was younger some of my friends called me Hermione... I think that by reading it [Harry Potter] when I was a kid and watching the movie it influenced my personality... First by being ambitious, to say to myself ok that I do not want to be like a woman or like a girl who does what boys want her to do but that people see me as a human." Young woman, 22, Senegal

"Actually this movie inspired me a lot. First, the girls came from a different background, they had a strong relationship, that friendship... They could help each other to see that the other one succeed and see that no one is left out." Young woman, 19, Uganda (Summer Forever)

However, a few interviewees spoke about movies and TV series in general and the negative effect that harmful stereotypes and the underrepresentation of women had on them and their aspirations and ambitions and their behaviour.

"Entertainment media in general, because of the different TV programmes that I used to watch in the past and the way women and girls are portrayed... I am sort of in the process of overcoming the effect of those stereotypes and focusing more on my own values and my own personal aspirations." Girl, 17, Peru

A number of girls and young women also reflected on the possible harmful effects on young women more generally in their society. Across participating countries, girls and young women strongly believed that when women and girls cannot see women as leaders on screens or cannot identify positive role models, they become convinced that they are not fit for leadership roles and therefore should not aspire to be leaders. They can lose confidence and ambition.

"I think it might have negative impact on young women, because they may think they are not really a good fit for leadership roles, for example. And they may think that they don't need to try hard in their career and just live a normal life and just stay at home and take care of their children. They don't need to have like big ambition or something like that." Young woman, 21, Vietnam

"Because they don't typically see women in those positions and so they can't even imagine themselves to be in such a position." Young woman, 18, Canada

"Definitely there's an impact because indirectly the movies are telling women that they are not able to take leadership roles in the same way that men can." Girl, 17, Peru

"When we see women playing second role, young women can think its normal life to play a second role and lose ambition." Young woman, 23, Senegal

"Of course, it hurts me 'cause... if I can act as a leader, I won't stand out to do it 'cause I know it is just for men, not for women. So that affects me. I'll have to sit back and watch men doing it, yet I can also do it." Young woman, 22, Uganda Two young women also spoke about how this effect is amplified for women from ethnic minority groups. According to these interviewees, in the rare cases that women are shown in leadership positions, it is often white women, leaving girls and young women from ethnic minority groups without leadership role models – further undermining their ambitions or confidence to lead.

"I guess for women of colour that's even more difficult to find a good example, so I think especially for women of colour and for girls of colour I think that's more difficult if you don't have a good example or a strong example [of women in leadership]... you probably would have question marks there if you can make it to the top." Young woman, 23, Netherlands

"I've yet to see someone that looks like me on screen. So I think that is a harmful narrative, that young girls are growing up never seeing themselves on TV and I kind of wonder am I even allowed or am I even seen as someone who is attractive not only in terms of looks but in terms of personality... It could be a harmful narrative that could shape how a girl's character grows at the time." Girl, 17, Canada

Some interviewees also spoke about the role that movies have in affecting what girls and boys perceive as normal gender roles which, after repeatedly being exposed to such messages over time, will ultimately their behaviour and confidence.

"Cause, after seeing, like, girls are seen in cooking, are seen in farming.... And the men are seen in big pictures. It means that even a young girl will grow up saying that actually... I'm to be a cleaner, I'm to be in a kitchen!" Young woman, 19, Uganda

"They [media] influence a lot on how our society functions and after they can influence boys and girls. First for the young women and girls and for all the women it kind of makes them having a lack of confidence and also thinking that all the stereotypes they are having in their life are true and unconsciously they will accept [them]". Young woman, 22, Senegal

"But in the end if through all the years you watch a lot of movies and shows about women who start a family and who are looking for a man and want to marry. And all the guys are watching movies where the guy has to be a hero and has to save others, yes, in the end I think that has an effect on people...So that you think in these stereotypical ideas about how a man should be and how a woman should be. And I think that also has an effect, in the end on behavior." Young woman, 25, Netherlands

One interviewee also discussed how media portrayals of women can make women and girls believe that their value lies mostly in their appearance and societal constructs of beauty, often exacerbated by certain 'influencers'.

"Little girls that are fourteen or fifteen maybe that are receiving that message, it is really something that is shocking I think... If that's the portrait that young girls are getting nowadays, you have to be perfect, do sport, to look good." Young woman, 23, Netherlands

One interviewee from India was also concerned harmful impacts of portrayals when women are undervalued or abused on screen. According to this young woman, when this behaviour is observed by young people in society, they think that it is acceptable, fostering a negative environment for the protection of women and girls in which violence is normalized.

"When it comes to topics like the protection of the women its [entertainment media] is impacting in a negative way the youth are being depicted to easily tease the girls, to make fun of them." Young woman, 20, India

5.3.8. The change girls and young women want to see

Girls and young women interviewed were quick to express the changes they wanted to see in movies/TV shows. They recognised the power of media and had a number of recommendations.

"As I said at the beginning, we often underestimate the impact that movie and films and shows have on our culture as a whole. I think that if we tap into that, it's a wonderful resource where we can really portray these different characters because they exist. They do exist and to portray them on TV and the big screen is really allowing people to see themselves and to accept who they are and to not be afraid of being their true self and not having to hide themselves." Girl, 17, Canada

"These little changes I think are going to make a big change in the end and its up to us to kind of unleash and make those changes a reality." Girl, 17, Canada

Firstly, interviewees reported wanting to see women as lead roles in movies/TV series. Five interviewees said that they wanted to see more female actresses taking leading roles on screen, and roles which did not centre around the storyline of a man.

"When we give the roles, we can show woman and give them the first role, not every time the second role." Young woman, 23, Senegal

"Women should be also be given the right to act that bigger part in the movie." Young woman, 19, Uganda

"So, I definitely think that there should be more female leads in movies rather than them acting as sort of like the backbone for the male characters." Young woman, 18, Canada

But it is not enough for more women to be in a leading role or a leading character. A number of interviewees also wanted them to be shown as leaders and to hold power.

"I want like more shows focused on women and like how women are doing things to help society and help the people around them, because most shows do focus on men in like many different leadership positions or non-leadership positions, how they sort of like make their way and like become successful." Young woman, 18, Canada

"We could switch up these stereotypes of the leadership role and how that should look and I think indeed it's quite a good example in the movie that I described in how women can stand up for themselves and take the lead and that could be very inspirational I think for young women to see." Young woman, 24, Netherlands

"When we do movies, we can try to show their power, not every time here, looking like flowers in the movies." Young woman, 23, Senegal

The first quote, from an interviewee from Canada, describes a model of leadership that aligns with Plan International's definitions of leadership from the new research *Taking the Lead*. This young woman suggests that she wants to see movies which show leaders helping and developing her society and others around them, rather than more masculine leadership traits.

Interviewees also wanted to see more diversity in the entertainment media in terms of ethnicity and social background, both in terms of more diversity in the cast but also behind the scenes, recognizing that positive representation of women starts with the film crews and staff.

"I would definitely go for more of a diverse cast and really tapping in more into the character's backgrounds and giving the women characters more screen time where its not centred around the guys and romantic involvement." Girl, 17, Canada

"I think there is a lot of work for people who are directing films but basically it starts there, it starts at the writing tables and at the media companies...Make sure that there is a diverse group of people that you get your ideas from. I think that helps because you get different perspectives, that's basically what I think needs to change but that is of course the underlying power structure and that is not easy to do." Young woman, 23, Netherlands

Girls and young women also said that they wanted movies to show the female character's storyline in more depth. This centred around women having more independence from men in movies and not having to rely on men for help.

"Make sure that its more about strong women and independent women and that they can make it on their own." Young woman, 23, Netherlands

"If I can do then I think the film directors, they should also focus on the careers of the girls, they should also focus not only about their love story, their families and their marriage story, but also their dream, their ambition and their career too." Young woman, 21, Vietnam

"I recently watched 'Ladybird' directed by Greta Gerwig, such a beautiful film and I really hope to just continue to keep watching films like that of girlhood or womanhood, where its not just all about male characters or male fantasies." Girl, 17, Canada

A couple of interviewees also mentioned how they would differently portray men and masculinity; they referred to how they would include men and boys in characters who are able to explore their emotions and don't necessarily fit into the stereotype of an 'action hero'.

"I think for the most part they [men] are portrayed as these kinds of the strong guys that don't have any flaws in a sense that they are kind of seen as perfect as well. They do have to fit into this harmful negative as well, this toxic masculinity... You don't really have a lot of movies about guys where there is a chance to explore their emotions or being seen in ways that aren't this huge action guy or something like that." Girl, 17, Canada

"About the male, I think they should be portrayed in a more emotional way, like usually the film is not focused about their emotion. So, I think we should let them to express more emotion." Young woman, 21, Vietnam

5.4. Girls' Photo Project

Up to this point, this report has explored visual entertainment media and the messages it conveys with regards to gender and female leadership. This section presents findings on advertising media that surrounds girls and young women in their communities in terms of the media messages that they are exposed to gender norms, expectations and stereotypes.

As alluded to by one young woman from Japan in the quote below, advertisements have a role in telling girls and young women what society expects from them.

"Advertisements reflect society. This means that society is strange, rather than advertisements are strange. Advertisements tell us what today's society expects from us. Advertisements are the mirrors of society because those that do not reflect reality are meaningless. Advertisements tell us what society expects from women." Young woman, Japan

5.4.1. Using images of women and girls to 'sell' products

Findings from the girls' photo project revealed that women were more likely than men to be 'major characters'^{xvii} in the adverts identified by participants (see table 13), though this may have been a result of the selection method.

Character Prominence	Major Characters	Minor Characters	Background Characters	(n)
Men	72.0%	12.0%	16.0%	50
Women	87.7%	8.4%	3.9%	155

Table 13: Character prominence by gender

However, young women's reflections on the process also highlighted how much more likely women were to be featured in adverts than men.

^{xvii} Major character simply means that they were prominent in the advert and does not relate to portrayals of leadership or gender norms (this will be explored further later in this section).

"Most ads had women and not men [...] Because women stand out more than men." Young woman, Dominican Republic

"I have learned that most product are advertised using girl's pictures." Young woman, South Sudan

Young women in all five countries were quick to assess that, overall, the adverts they saw demonstrated that the bodies of women and girls were being used to sell products, even where the image of a woman bore no relation to the product being sold.

"I have learned that girls are used in adverts for their physical appearance." Young woman, South Sudan

"The girl is ready to put forward her beauty not her personality and her human qualities." Young woman, Senegal

"They use us like sexual merchandise." Young woman, Dominican Republic

"It had a strong influence on me, in that she is promoting her product, she was promoting her own body." Young woman, Dominican Republic

"Girls are used as commodity or brand in advertisements." Young woman, India

Table 14: Girls reflections on specific photographs

Photo of advert	Country	Girls' and young women's reflections
	Senegal	<i>"It's a phone advertisement but there's a woman next to you as if you think of it as an object of attraction."</i>
And a staff and a staff a gant that is the staff and staff a	India	"This is a shop of plastic goods and cosmetic products but attractive female model with modern dress and heavy jewellery is shown which is not at all related to the products advertised [] Model is wearing off shoulder dress which is totally mismatched and unrelated to the product advertised."

The quantitative analysis also uncovered high levels of character sexualisation and nudity of females (see table 15). One-in-five women in these ads are sexualized, while none of the men are sexualized. Women

are three times more likely than men to be shown with partial nudity (e.g., shirtless, with cleavage) in these ads.

 Table 15: Character sexualisation and nudity

Gender	Character sexualisation (as % of gender)	Character nudity (as % of gender)
Male (n=50)	0.0%	4.0%
Female (n=155)	18.1%	13.5%

5.4.2. Ideals of beauty

When asked by a facilitator 'what do the advertising media tell us?', one young woman responded: *"That we have to be pretty. And what we should look like."* Across all five participating countries, young women echoed this sentiment and identified a number of features of the 'ideal woman' as portrayed in the adverts they took photographs of, which was unrealistic and does not reflect diversity or reality. These were remarkably similar across each of the countries:

5.4.2.1. Slim or thin

Girls and young women in the Dominican Republic and Japan identified how the images of women in adverts portrayed women as slim or thin.

"Facilitator: What image does it convey to us? Participant: Skinny with straight hair. Participant: But if she had been chubby, it would have been much better. Participant: Most of the women in these images are thin."

Dominican Republic

"This ad can be associated with a size of mannequins. In other countries, most mannequins have a standard and healthy figure. However, the mannequins in Japan seem to get slimmer and slimmed. It shows that Japanese society desire slim women. Japanese society expects women to stay slim and this ad depicts such notion." Young woman, Japan

5.4.2.2. Light skinned

Across all five countries – Dominican Republic, Japan, South Sudan, Senegal and India –girls who participated in the photo project discussed how adverts depicted women as having light skin.

"Facilitator: She has a perfect body, a perfect body according to whom? Participant: According to them. Participant: You have to be light-skinned, thin, with long hair."

Dominican Republic

"Fairness is main concern as in our society people think fair complexion is superior to black or dark complexion. Through this advertisement, media wants to show that fairness is important." Young woman, India

"Media wants to show that girls should always be beautiful and fair. The advertisement shows that glorious and fair skin leads to happiness." Young woman, India

"A woman with fair skin and long black hair is men's ideal." Young woman, Japan

5.4.2.3. Other beauty ideals

Girls and young touched also mentioned other beauty ideals that are emphasised in the adverts. This included:

- Being hairless: "Being hairy is related to masculinity whereas hairless and smooth skin is related to femininity, and female model is used in the advertisement showing her legs." Young woman, India
- Being youthful: "The ad [for contact lenses] tries to overlap images of childishness, cuteness and immatureness with a young woman." Young woman, Japan

• Chastity: when describing the advert in image 1 where a young woman is featured in an advert for abstinence, one young woman from Senegal remarked that the advert was saying "as if men should not abstain."

Image 1: Advert on abstinence in Senegal



5.4.3. Men as more intelligent

When it comes to character traits, men are three times as likely to be shown as smart than women in these ads, as shown in table 16.

Table 16: Character traits

Character Shown as Smart	Percentage	(n)
Male	18.0%	50
Female	5.2%	155

The young women and girls also reflected on the fact that, despite there being no dialogue in the advertisements, men are still portrayed men as more intelligent than women.

"A mermaid represents the beauty of the woman, to attract customers he uses the image of the woman without reference to his intelligence." Young woman, Senegal

"According to what I can see, the woman and the man are united. And they... as they call the people back there tall, the women down there look a bit gossipy." Young woman, Dominican Republic

5.4.4. Women undertaking domestic or family tasks as opposed to working

Quantitative analysis shows that advertisements photographed by girls and young women appear to reinforce gender stereotypes when it comes to character location. Women are more likely to be shown in the kitchen, while men are more likely to be shown in an office or outdoor setting.

Table 17: Location of characters shown to be working

Character Location	Kitchen	Office	Outdoors	(n)
Male	0.0%	6.0%	22.0%	50
Female	4.5%	1.9%	15.6%	155

Representations in these ads also reinforce stereotypes about work. As shown in Table 18, men are three times more likely to be shown working than women.

Table 18: Characters shown working

Character Shown Working	Percentage	(n)
Male	30.0%	50
Female	10.3%	155

This is echoed by qualitative analysis of girls and young women's perceptions of messages portrayed in advertisements. A number of girls and young women across the Dominican Republic, Senegal and India remarked on how women were often shown in relation to domestic tasks or products, such as washing machines, or in traditional roles, such as in the household or caring for others.

"A woman next to household appliances what can be interpreted by the fact that they want to show that the place of the woman is at home, take care of household chores." Young woman, Senegal

Photo of advert	Country	Girls' reflections
Matria lo merer todo	Dominican Republic	Facilitator: Are we looking after her by giving her a fridge and a stove? What does this image tell you about respecting your mother? Participant: That we should buy electro- domestic products for our mums. That's what it means. Participant: I have to give her a present; it doesn't matter how big or small, so that she feels happy and pleased with what I am going to give her. Facilitator: Why not a washing machine? Participant: It's for everyone in the house to use; it has to be for her, that we give it to her Facilitator: Why don't we give our father a washing machine? Participant: Because women do those domestic tasks.

Table 19: Advertisements depicting gender roles

However, where advertisements did show women as working, participants in Japan perceived them to be sexist.

"The term 'working mothers' is disturbing. There is no such term as 'working fathers', so working mothers makes women who work look special." Young woman, Japan

This theme was echoed by participants in the Dominican Republic, who reported wanting more adverts showing men in supportive roles and taking care of the family, in order to demonstrate to young women that taking care of the family is not the sole responsibility of women.

"Males should also be used as a supportive model to show equality in family." Young woman, Dominican Republic

Another advert that was perceived to be sexist was an advert selling beer in Senegal. According to the young women and girls who participated in the girls' photo project, the advert confined a woman to the place of a waitress, excluding her as a consumer.

"Beer is a man's drink, the woman is confined to the place of a waitress and not a consumer." Young woman, Senegal

5.4.5. Portrayals of leadership

Quantitative analysis shows that men are significantly more likely to be shown as leaders than women in the adverts identified. When it comes to types of leadership, five women were shown as leaders in their

careers, four were shown as leaders in their country, and no women were shown as leaders in their community or family.

 Table 20: characters depicted as leaders

Character Is a Leader	Percentage	(n)
Male	6.0%	50
Female	3.9%	155

Similarly, qualitative data also suggests that women are less likely to be shown as leaders in advertisements that men. Girls and young women emphasised how adverts can reinforce the notion that leadership is reserved for men.

"Males are always dominating in business as names of only males are displayed on boards." Young woman, India

"Some advertisements show women taking leadership, but most of them show women being a good wife and mother and being passive." Young woman, Japan

"They have not considered women in a top job position with a bank." Young woman, South Sudan

Photo of advert	Country	Girls' reflections
P33 P33 Plus MA PUISSANCE MON HÉROS	Senegal	<i>"When one speaks about power one thinks of the man. Power = man."</i>

Table 21: Advert in Senegal portraying male power

5.4.6. The effect of media messages on girls and young women

Qualitative analysis of the girls' and young women's reflections across five countries provides an insight into the potential effect that advertisements and the way in which they depict gender roles and leadership affects girls and young women.

Firstly, advertising media can create unrealistic expectations on what beauty is, and influence what girls and young women think they should look like in order to be perceived as beautiful than others. This links to low self-esteem and low levels of confidence. This emerged during discussions in Japan and the Dominican Republic.

"Participant: I would like my body to look like that. Facilitator: Ah, yes? Do you think it looks good? Participant: Yes, it looks good and I wish my body was like that." Dominican Republic

"We'd like to be like her, to look like her if we wore those clothes. That's why we have to keep our bodies in good shape." Young woman, Dominican Republic

"Japanese women tend to assimilate with others and act in a group, so they try to fit themselves into the image made by advertisements." Young woman, Japan

Participants in South Sudan described how advertising media can make women doubt their abilities to lead and therefore dissuading them from pursuing leadership opportunities.

"Women can also take top leadership position such as the general secretary of the bank, though most of them doubt themselves that they can do it." Young woman, South Sudan

Complementing this, some girls and young women in the Dominican Republic commented on how when advertisements show women in leadership positions, it encourages and inspires them, making them believe that women have the potential to be leaders.

"Facilitator: Look at this one, what do you feel about this image? Participant: It means women are superpowerful.... Participant: I identify with it. Facilitator: In this case do you feel she could be a leader? Participant: Yes."

Dominican Republic

"It's positive because it makes you feel strength. Sometimes I feel like...wow, because I'd like to be like that." Young woman, Dominican Republic

Finally, some girls and young women allude to the positive effect that advertisements have when they portray women as equal to men. This also implies that local advertising media in Japan more often includes gender stereotypes than global media.

"It depends on the kind of media they check. People who like overseas media become more conscious of gender equality and feel that domestic media is strange. If they only check domestic media, they are often influenced by the idea that a woman should be a good wife and mother." Young woman, Japan

Photograph of advertisement	Country	Girls' and young women's reflections
FRY BIGGHER WITH INDIA'S BEST AIRLINE Brenght le yeu by Sula & Singapore (Ersline)	India	Participant: It is an advertisement where both men and women are shown Participant: It shows women having due equality as they deserve Participant: The women in the advertisement look confident as they walk side by side with men Participant: The clothes, the females are wearing, are defying the dress codes imposed on women generally in our country (like wearing a saree, salwar kameez, etc.)

Table 22: Advert in India

6. ANALYTICAL THEMES

This section seeks to highlight some of the more salient points that emerge from the four component parts of this study, recognising that the ways in which data has been gathered and analysed and the type of media discussed all vary to some extent and were collected in different stages and with different study respondents. Nonetheless some key themes have emerged which are common to one or more of the constituent parts of the study

6.1. The scale of media influence on girls and young women

The scale of media influence on society is well-researched and well-known: media wields a significant influence on how we think and define our place in society.⁴⁰ Entertainment media is powerful, with 54 of the 56 top-grossing films of 2018 that were analysed in this study earning a staggering \$21,691,475,835 at the box office last year. It is highly westernized and U.S. centric; most of the top-grossing films of 2018 were produced in the United States. Yet these movies and the messages they convey have a global reach: this study sought to analyse the top 10 movies in 19 countries and what was found was that these were almost always the same, with some exceptions – there was huge overlap which demonstrates the universality of many of the movies. In addition, a number of girls and young women who were interviewed - from Uganda to Peru to the Netherlands – named their favourite films as ones which were produced in the United States. This study therefore lends some credence to the argument that there is a disproportionate amount of influence emerging from the US film industry which shapes girls' and young women's perceptions of leadership in countries from across the globe and from all walks of life. However, as mentioned previously, because of the random sample of locations, it appears that US films have that disproportionate influence globally.

The voices of the girls and young women who participated in this research echo this evidence on the influence of media. Girls and young women who were interviewed emphasized the importance of entertainment media to them and other young people in their societies, reporting that they generally engage with it – whether through watching a movie or a TV series – on a daily basis. They also said that children and young people look up to and are inspired by the role models they identify in characters on their screens, seeking to mimic their actions, behaviours and appearance. Yet the influence of media discussed in this study does not only lie with the films or TV series that young people watch. Media messages surround girls and young women as they go about their everyday lives through advertisements which, according to one young woman who participated in the girls' photo project, tells them what society expects of them. Overall, media – both advertising media and entertainment media – were reported to have an influence on girls' and young women's perceptions of the world around them, and could shape the way in which they think, act, and perceive and value themselves, and how they see female leadership.

6.2. Gender discrimination and gender stereotypes still dominate

The findings from this study present no major surprises. They reassert what research has long uncovered: gender bias pervades the media, in advertising and on screen. Despite the Beijing Platform for Action in 1995 calling for the media sector to include more women,⁴¹ analysis of the film crews for 2018's top-grossing films create a disheartening picture. Of all the top-grossing films of 2018 identified, none were directed by a woman. Only one-in-four (24.1%) of the top-grossing films had at least one female producer, and only one-in-ten (10.1%) had at least one woman on the writing team. It is, therefore, possibly not surprising that the top-grossing films of 2018 significantly under-represented women: men dominated character distribution, outnumbering women two to one. They also dominated speaking time and screen time, with audiences twice as likely to see men appear and talk on their screens.

Whilst a small qualitative sample, findings from interviews with girls and young women shed light on the implications of media portrayals of women and female leadership. What girls and young women reported seeing when women were shown on screen is concerning: they spoke about how female characters often display stereotypical behaviour, including being 'weak' or in 'need of help' from men to achieve their goals, less intelligent and capable than them. In fact, according to some young women and girls, women's roles in visual entertainment media are often defined in relation to a man; girls and young women reported that women are portrayed as a male character's romantic interest or are supporting characters whose objective is to help a man. These portrayals of women contrast sharply with portrayals of men, who are often shown as shown as superior, powerful, strong and assertive, often in successful careers. Girls and young women who participated in the photo project also uncovered stereotypical depictions of women in advertising media, with women frequently shown to be undertaking domestic tasks or caring for others, whilst men were more likely to be shown at work.

It is interesting to note, however, that despite such frequently reported stereotypes, many girls and young women who were interviewed considered that the main female characters in a movie or TV series that they liked, or considered their favourite, were a positive representation of women. They described how these female characters went against the grain and defied the gender stereotypes they often see in entertainment media. A number of female leads in these movies or TV series were described as

courageous, ambitious, intelligent, strong and fierce. It is encouraging that girls and young women can tell the difference between characters which are positive role-models and those who perpetuate gender stereotypes. Though it must be mentioned that these were the girls and young women who participated in the key informant interviews and therefore had already had exposure to gender equality programming with Plan International.

Interviewees still remarked, however, that even if these female characters did not display gender stereotypical behaviour, they almost always abided by society's constructs of beauty. Girls and young women frequently said that these female characters still wore 'girly' clothes, dresses and makeup, and were nearly always 'slim' and 'beautiful'. This is a pattern also emerging in the advertising media. In their analysis of advertisements, girls and young women who participated in the photo project emphasised how advertisements were mostly placing primary importance on women's appearance, telling them that 'they have to be pretty'. In this way, entertainment media appears to value a woman's beauty over her intelligence or leadership, with a narrow and unrealistic expectations of appearance and beauty.

6.3. Media portrayals of female leadership send mixed messages

Findings from this research support previous research that women are missing from media portrayals of leadership.⁴² In the top-grossing films of 2018, men are more likely to be shown as a leader in the workplace, community or country. In this way, these top-grossing films reinforce an already prevalent notion that leadership is a man's domain. Girls and young women who were interviewed support these findings. They thought that women were, generally, more likely to be shown in traditional roles than to be shown as leaders in the films they discussed. This pattern holds true for advertising media across five countries, with men being far more likely to be depicted as leaders in advertisements. Most of the interviewees weren't surprised by the underrepresentation of women in leadership roles; they see this underrepresentation and discrimination against women in leadership in reality, with their societies upholding gender norms around leadership as a male domain and stereotypes of women as ineffective leaders.

However, this research has uncovered some (albeit not extensive) evidence which suggests some progress. When women were shown in leadership positions in their career or community in the top-grossing films of 2018, they were often shown in a positive light: they were more likely to be shown as hard-working, intelligent, effective, likeable and respected than male leaders. However, this was not the case when leaders were depicted at a national level or in political leadership positions; male leaders at the national level were shown on entertainment media to be more effective and more respected than women, reinforcing the notion that men are more fit and capable to take up roles in politics and political leadership than women.

What's more, girls' and young women's opinions did not mirror this progress when women were shown as leaders, whether in their community, workplace or country. Although the sample size of the thirteen girls and young women interviewed is small, some girls and young women reported that when women were shown in leadership positions, they were shown as bad or ineffective leaders.

Whilst some progress might be seen in terms of women in leadership on screens, there is shockingly little diversity or inclusivity. Of 60 female characters shown as leaders in their job or career, country or community in the top-grossing films of 2018, half were white. Female leaders from other ethnicities were significantly underrepresented, with no middle eastern women depicted. And only one female leader with a diverse sexual orientation and gender identity was shown – a bi-sexual woman. This lack of diversity on screens left an impression on girls and young women themselves: when discussing this lack of diversity with girls and young women, they expressed concern that women and girls from minority groups are unable to see their lives or their realities reflected on screens and are not able to identify positive role models.

6.4. Sexual objectification in 2019...

The content analysis of the movies and the photos showed that sexual objectification of women is still rife. This is deeply troubling for many reasons. The number of women's marches over the last few years, the #metoo movement and the specific SDG on gender equality have all marked a growing consciousness of how (at long last) we need to move on from gender stereotypes and finally assign the equal rights that girls and women have been due for many years in terms of multiple international UN Conventions.

While one would expect equal representation of women in the media, a realist approach would probably acknowledge this is not yet attainable. However, the one thing that is attainable is stopping portraying women as 'sex objects' for the gratification of men or other powerful women.

Even if women in leadership are shown in a positive light, GDI's analysis shows that female leaders are more likely than male leaders to be sexually objectified or sexually harassed in the top-grossing films of 2018. This pattern of sexual objectification of women in leadership roles mirrors the wider and repeated sexual objectification of women in entertainment media highlighted by some girls and young women who were interviewed for this study. Similarly, advertising media has high levels of sexualization or nudity of female characters. Despite progress in leadership portrayals, the fact that women are far more likely to sexually objectified or harassed than men on screens implies that this is a precondition to female leadership, and that leadership is a hostile environment for a woman. This echoes findings from *Taking the Lead*, where 92.6% of girls and young women who participated in the survey thought that female leaders face unwanted physical contact. Taken together, the sexual objectification and harassment of female leaders shown on screen and on adverts could act as a deterrent to women and girls for pursuing leadership positions.

6.5. Media role models and media impact

A survey with around 10,000 girls and young women as part of the first phase of this research study told us that a large majority of girls and young women (82.9%) from all walks of life and across the globe have women leaders they admire as role models in the media. This survey also told us that having leadership role model in the media significantly increases the likelihood that a girl or young woman aspires to be a leader in her career or country. We also know from our previous research, *Taking the Lead*, having a role model can have a positive effect; it can inspire girls and young women, help them to grow and believe in themselves.

Girls and young women who we spoke to for this research also told us what they thought the consequences were when girls and young women could not find positive role models in media. According to some interviewees, when women are absent from depictions of leadership on screen, or when ethnic minorities or LGBTIQ+ women are not visible as leaders, girls' and young women's ambitions and aspirations for leadership are inhibited: being unable to find positive female role models on screens, young women and girls who consume media messages are led to believe that they are not fit for leadership positions. Some interviewees thought that this would be amplified for girls and young women from minority groups who far less likely to see ethnic minority or LGBTIQ+ women portrayed as leaders. When they see female characters frequently portrayed as the romantic interest with emphasis placed on their appearance, girls and young women can be led to think that they should prioritise their appearance and focus on finding 'love', rather than pursuing leadership roles.

Yet, it was not all doom and gloom. Despite being constantly surrounded by restricting media messages about what society expects of them, girls and young women did report seeing some positive role models on their screens and in advertising. When girls and young women spoke about a film or TV series that they liked or identified as their favourite, they often reported female characters who were strong and fierce, courageous and smart and defied gender stereotypes. And some advertisements do show women in positive light, equal to men and not in stereotypical roles.

6.6. Perception versus reality

The research deliberately sought to elicit the voices, thoughts and perceptions of girls and young women about female leadership portrayed in the media, gender and media, and media role models. But the research also deliberately sought a purely quantitative analysis of the content of media portrayals of gender and female leadership. What emerged was girls and young women expressing a desire to be treated equally, portrayed equally and to be leaders in all aspects on their lives – family, community, country and career. So too, they look for positive role models for support in doing so and expect to find these in the media. What actually emerged from the objective content analysis of media is a picture of male dominated media, men holding the power and men still being portrayed as leaders. Most of the time.

Some positive findings can be found in the way in which female leaders are shown as hard-working and effective; the fact that girls and young women do identify role models they can identify with and the fact that one of the biggest grossing films of 2018 featured three strong women leaders. However, this is all

tempered by the fact that this appears to be the exception rather than the norm. The norm is still male dominated.

6.7. The change girls and young women want to see

The thirteen girls and young women that were interviewed as part of this research expressed the importance of making changes to the entertainment media landscape. In particular, they would change the gender stereotypical way in which women and girls are often portrayed in films and TV series. But this was not enough; they wanted more female characters on their screens to be shown in leadership positions and wielding power. They were disheartened by seeing women only as the romantic interest of a man. Instead, they wanted to see these female characters' own storyline explored in more depth, independent of the male characters. Young women and girls also called for greater diversity of character and situation, referring to 'too may straight, white, rich people' on their screens. Others also wanted more diversity behind the scenes in the film production and writing teams.

7. RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1. Calls to action

Grounded in the findings of this study and the voices of girls and young women, three overarching recommendations are made:

- 1. To be it, they must see it. Make stories about female leadership visible and normal. Stories need to encourage young women's aspirations and ambitions, not undermine them.
- 2. Stop the sexualization and the objectification of women and girls on screen and ensure that content doesn't discriminate or reinforce negative stereotypes and behaviour.
- 3. Fund female filmmakers, programme makers and content producers. Invest more time and money in women and girls as storytellers while addressing harassment and discrimination in the workplace to encourage girls and women into key positions in the media industry.

National governments must:

- Partner with media bodies and civil society to run public campaigns that promote and increase the number of women leaders and the visibility of women's leadership in the media industries, sending the clear message that women and girls belong in all spaces and places of power.
- Reaffirm and accelerate action on existing commitments pertaining to girls and women, the media and equal representation as outlined in the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action in 1995. There is still much more work to be done: ending the use of degrading and inferior portrayals of women and girls; promoting gender equality and women's leadership, and increasing the participation of women in decision-making spaces within media industries.
- Introduce, monitor and enforce legislation around anti-gender discrimination, harassment and diversity in the workplace, to address why it is often a hostile environment for women. Encourage content creators to depict the workplace as a positive place for women and female leadership.
- Make funding to public and private media bodies dependent on the uptake of diversity standards, as with the British Film Institute in the UK, and encourage more funding be earmarked to the creation of content that celebrates diversity, promotes gender equality and encourages younger voices in storytelling.
- Understand the role of education in preparing girls and young women to have future careers as leaders and storytellers in media industries by ensuring subjects such as the creative arts and media literacy are part of national curricula in schools and in non-formal settings. Also invest in educational materials that do not promote gender stereotypes but show girls and women in positions of authority.
- Work with media bodies to drive increased and diverse representation within production teams including apprenticeship and mentoring schemes.

Media bodies and organisations, including regulators, funders, commissioners and film and television productions companies, must:

- Set diversity and inclusion targets and key actions that drive increased and diverse representation both on screen and behind it, including apprenticeship and mentoring schemes for younger women.
- Endorse and support champions within the media industry, especially those who are seen as role models by girls, young women and other marginalised groups, to influence wider recognition of representation issues in the industry and public arena.
- Take up self-regulatory measures such as gender audits and codes of conduct on all productions in order to: address discrimination and harassment in the workplace; the lack of diversity in crew, cast and script; the negative portrayals of women leaders, and the sexual objectification of women and girls, within scripts and other media content.
- Create awards and other incentives to share best practice in fostering women's leadership in the media industries and celebrate women storytellers from a diversity of backgrounds
- Regularly consult with girls and young women as consumers in order to produce the different stories they are asking to see on platforms that are accessible and favoured by them.
- Ensure that films and other entertainment content produced and directed by women have production and marketing budgets equal to those of male filmmakers and creators.

Individual champions – filmmakers, talent, executives, producers, activists and politicians must:

• Be the role model girls need: scrutinise scripts, speak out at industry and political events and, where they have the power, publicly make diversity and gender equality a condition of their involvement in a media production.

8. BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Ashmore, R.D., & Del Boca, F.K., 'Conceptual approaches to stereotypes and stereotyping;' in D.L. Hamilton ed., *Cognitive processes in stereotyping and intergroup behavior*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, 1981.
- Blum, R.Wm., Adolescence: Age and Stage. Understanding the Golden Threads That Connect the Adolescent Girl Experience Worldwide, Girl Effect, John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 2017, <u>https://www.girleffect.org/stories/adolescence-age-and-stage/</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.
- British Film Institute, 'BFI Diversity Standards', *British Film Institute* [website], <u>https://www.bfi.org.uk/supporting-uk-film/diversity-inclusion/bfi-diversity-standards</u>, accessed 4 July 2012.
- Conroy, M. et al, 'From Ferraro to Palin: Sexism in Coverage of Vice Presidential Candidates in Old and New Media', *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, vol.3, no.4, June 2015.
- Danish Film Institute, 'What's the number of women and men working on your film?', *Danish Film Institute* [website], 4 October 2018, <u>https://www.dfi.dk/en/english/news/whats-number-women-and-men-working-your-film</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.
- Fuster, J., 'Hollywood Studios Are Releasing 5 Times More Films With Female Directors This Year (Exclusive)', *The Wrap*, 28 February 2019, <u>https://www.thewrap.com/female-director-woman-hollywood-studio-progress-five-times-more-history/</u>, accessed on 4 July 2019.
- GAGE consortium, Gender and Adolescence: Why Understanding Adolescent Capabilities, Change Strategies and Contexts Matters, Overseas Development Institute, London, 2017, <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Gender-and-Adolescence-CF-FINAL-1.pdf</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.

Garcia-Blanco, I. & Wahl-Jorgensen, K., 'The Discursive Construction of Women Politicians in

the European Press', Feminist Media Studies, vol. 12, no.3, 2012.

- Grau, S.L. & Zotos, Y.C., 'Gender stereotypes in advertising: a review of current research', *International Journal of Advertising*, vol.35, no.5, Sep. 2016.
- Hamad, B.A. et al., *I Prefer to Stay Silent: Exploring Opportunities for and Challenges to Adolescents' Psychosocial and Mental Health in Gaza*, Overseas Development Institute, London, 2018, <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/publication/adolescent-psychosocial-health-in-gaza/</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.
- Haraldsson, A. & Wängnerud, L., 'The effect of media sexism on women's political ambition: evidence from a worldwide study', *Feminist Media Studies*, vol.19, no.4, 2019.
- Heldman, C., Carroll, S.J. & Olson, S., "She Brought Only a Skirt': Print Media Coverage of Elizabeth Dole's Bid for the Republican Nomination', *Political Communication*, vol.22, no.3, 2005.
- Heldman, C., Conroy, M. & Ackerman, A., Sex and Gender in the 2016 Presidential Election, Praeger, New York, 2018.
- Iyengar, S. & Kinder, D.R., *News That Matters: Television and Public Opinion,* University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1987.
- Lauzen, M., *The Celluloid Ceiling: Behind-The-Scenes Employment of Women on the Top 100, 250, and 500 Films of 2018*, Center for the Study of Women in Television and Film, San Diego, CA, 2019, <u>https://womenintvfilm.sdsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/2018</u> Celluloid Ceiling Report.pdf, accessed 16 July 2019.
- Lauzen, M. & Dozier, D., 'The Role of Women on Screen and Behind the Scenes in the Television and Film Industries: Review of a Program of Research', *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, vol.23, no.4, 1999.
- Kahn, K., *The Political Consequences of Being a Woman: How Stereotypes Influence the Conduct and Consequences of Political Campaigns*, Columbia University Press, New York, 1996.
- Lawrence, R.G. & Rose, M., *Hillary Clinton's Race for the White House: Gender Politics and Media on the Campaign Trail,* Lynne Rienner Pub, Colorado, 2009.
- Liu, H., Cutcher, L. & Grant, D., 'Authentic Leadership in Context: An Analysis of Banking CEO Narratives During the Global Financial Crisis', *Human Relations*, vol.70, no.6, Nov. 2016.
- Mitchell, W., 'Gender equality: How would your film or company perform on a self report?', *Wendy Mitchell* [blog post], <u>https://www.filmwendy.com/post/gender-equality-how-would-your-film-or-</u> <u>company-perform-on-a-self-report</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.
- R. Montpeller, 'Swedish Film Institute Unveils Initiative for Women Screenwriters at Cannes', *Women and Hollywood* [website], 17 May 2019, <u>https://womenandhollywood.com/swedish-film-institute-unveils-initiative-for-women-screenwriters-at-cannes/</u>, accessed 3 September 2019.
- Montpeller, R., 'Time's Up Rings in New Year by Launching Campaign to Double Number of Women in Leadership', *Women and Hollywood* [website], January 2, 2019, <u>https://womenandhollywood.com/times-up-rings-in-new-year-by-launching-campaign-to-double-number-of-women-in-leadership/</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.
- Montpeller, R., 'Universal Is First Major Studio to Accept 4% Challenge', *Women and Hollywood* [website], 30 January 2019, <u>https://womenandhollywood.com/universal-is-first-major-studio-to-accept-4-challenge/</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.
- Parry-Giles, S.J., *Hillary Clinton in the News: Gender and Authenticity in American Politics,* University of Illinois Press, Urbana, IL, 2014.

- Plan International and Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, *Taking the Lead: Girls and young women on changing the face of leadership,* Plan International, Woking, 2019.
- Salmon, C., 'Why gender equality in Hollywood is still a long way off', *The Independent,* 18 October 2018, <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/films/features/gender-equality-hollywood-female-directors-patty-jenkins-tamara-a8586841.html</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.
- Semujju, B., 'Frontline Farmers, Backline Sources: Women as a tertiary voice in climate change coverage', *Feminist Media Studies*, vol.15, no.4, 2015.
- Smith, S.L., Choueiti, M. & Pieper, K., *Gender Bias Without Borders*, The Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, California, 2015, <u>https://seejane.org/symposiums-on-gender-in-media/gender-bias-without-borders/</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.
- Tuchman, G., 'The Symbolic Annihilation of Women by the Mass Media', in Crothers, L. & Lockhart, C., eds., *Culture and Politics*, Palgrave Macmillan, New York, 2000
- United Nations, *Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: The Fourth World Conference on Women*, 27 October 1995, <u>https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/pdf/BDPfA%20E.pdf</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.
- UN Women, 'The Beijing Platform for Action turns 20: Women and the Media', *UN Women* [website], <u>http://beijing20.unwomen.org/en/in-focus/media</u>, accessed 23 June 2019.
- Vinacke, W.E., 'Stereotypes and social concepts', Journal of Social Psychology, vol.46, 1957.
- Weissbourd, R., *Leaning Out: Teen Girls and Leadership Biases*, Making Caring Common Project, Harvard Graduate School of Education, Cambridge MA, 2015.
- Williams, T. 'Gender, media and democracy', The Round Table, vol.89, no.357, 2000.
- Woodall, G. & Fridkin, K.L., 'Shaping Women's Chances: Stereotypes and the Media', in Han, L. & Heldman, C. eds., *Rethinking Madame President: Are We Ready for a Woman in the White House?,* Lynne Rienner Pub, Colorado, 2007.

9. ANNEX 1: KII TOOL

Objectives

The KIIs should respond to the following research question:

• How does media portray leadership?

• Female leaders portrayed in mainstream media, types of leadership style, professional domains where female leaders are featured

The purpose of the KII is to provide depth to the statistical analysis of media content, and to make that content more relatable. Overall, the KII seeks to gather young people's perspective on how women and men are portrayed in fictional media in general, and in relation to leadership in particular, by having them reflect on their favourite entertainment media (movie, TV programme, radio programme).

Topics of research

Existing tools and analysis frameworks focus on the following topics:

- Portrayal of male and female traits and behaviours / gender performances (inc. subversion of gender stereotypes)
- Portrayal of other identity aspects social class, age, sexual orientation, race and ethnicity, religion, and disability

- Role and occupation of male/ female characters, including leadership positions (e.g. leadership as male?)
- Sexual objectification of women; choice of clothing and images of body
- Levels of autonomy of male/ female characters, goal/purpose vs passive/ rescued
- Effects of the media messages (positive or negative) on the viewer or society more broadly extent to which it influences their perception of themselves, others or the world in general; extent to which it influenced their behaviour

The KII covers those topics to the extent feasible, though in some cases questions are asked specifically on these topics but rather left for the respondent to raise them if they deem it relevant. The KII is organised around:

- a) Reflection on a respondents' movie of choice
- b) Reflection on role and influence of movies more generally

Questions

[read out introductory statement and informed consent process, as required]

We are conducted a piece of research on how entertainment media portray women and girls, particularly in relation to leadership. We are looking at xx number of movies from 19 countries to find out how women and girls are shown on screen.

We want to talk to you today about a movie, TV programme or radio programme you really like, and about the male and female characters that are in it.

- 1) How important is entertainment media to you?
 - a. How often do you access entertainment media (movies, TV programmes or radio programmes)?
 - b. What kind of role do you think entertainment media has on young people in your society? What kind of entertainment media are they most likely to access?
- 2) What is your favourite movie (prompt: or a movie you like and know well)?
 - a. What genre is the movie?xviii
 - b. Where is it set? (prompt for country, urban/rural location)
 - c. Can you summarise in a couple of sentences what it is about?
- 3) Who are the main character/s in [your movie]? (ideally hone in on 1-2 primary characters).
 - a. What is their role in the movie? How do they relate to each other?
 - b. Are they male or female?
 - c. Approximately what kind of age are they? [prompt: a child, a teenager, a young adult, middle aged, elderly]
 - *d.* Do we learn anything else about their identity in the movie? [*prompt: social class, sexual orientation, race / ethnicity, religion, disability*]
- 4) In your opinion, which characters hold the power in the movie?
 - a. Are they male or female? How old are they?
 - *b.* Are they from a majority or minority group (in terms of social class, sexual orientation, race / ethnicity, religion, disability)?
 - c. What is the nature of the power? Is it power that's used positively or negatively?
- 5) Thinking about [primary character 1, from q2], can you tell me:
 - a. What are the main characteristics or behaviours of that character? Would you say these are stereotypically [male/female] behaviours^{xix}? Why / why not? [prompt: actions or words, appearance, job/role]

^{xviii} IMDB genres: Action; Adventure; Animation; Biography; Comedy; Crime; Documentary; Drama; Family; Fantasy; Film Noir; History; Horror; Musical; Mystery; Romance; Sci-Fi; Short; Sport; Superhero; Thriller; War; Western

xix Stereotypical male traits and behaviour could include: assertiveness, being in control, aggression, an emphasis on physical strength, and sexual promiscuity. Stereotypical female traits and behaviors could include passivity, an emphasis on being pleasing, gentleness, dependence, and an emphasis on caring and empathy.

- b. Do you think [other aspects of their identity insert as appropriate from 2.d] affect the way they behaviour in the movie or the role they have?
- c. Do they have a goal or objective in the movie? Do they achieve that goal or objective? What motivates the character?
- 6) [optional question, if female character hasn't been discussed in question 5] Thinking about [primary character 2] what can you tell me about their character?
 - a. Would you say the character behaves in a conventionally [male/female] way^{xx}? Why / why not? [prompt: actions or words, appearance, job/role]
 - b. Do you think [other aspects of their identity insert as appropriate from 2.d] affect the way they behaviour in the movie or the role they have?
 - c. Do they have a goal or objective in the movie? Do they achieve that goal or objective? Is that goal or objective for themselves or for others?
- 7) Can you share your thoughts on how women and girls are portrayed in the movie?
 - a. Is it mostly positive or negative in your opinion? Why do you think that?
 - b. If you could remake the movie to be more inclusive, how would you do it?
 - c. Do you think this is often the way women and girls are portrayed in movies, or is this movie doing something different? Please explain.
- 8) Do you think this movie had any effect on you? In what ways? [prompt: in terms of your perception of women/girls/boys/men, your behaviour, your aspirations?

We know from previous research that women and girls in movies (and media more broadly) are less likely to be shown in leadership roles than men and boys. Research in America showed that, in Hollywood movies in 2018, audiences were almost twice as likely to see male characters as female characters. The same research found that women and girls characters comprised 26% of leaders, while males accounted for 74% of leaders.^{xxi}

- 9) Do these findings surprise you? Why or why not?
 - a. [Do you think it would be similar for the movies you watch (/made in your context)]
- 10) Do you think the underrepresentation of women and girls has any effect on young men and women like you? In what ways? [prompt: in terms of perceptions, attitudes, behaviour, aspirations, representation]
- 11) Do you think there should be any changes in how women and girls or men and boys are portrayed in movies? What should be changed and why?

10. ANNEX 2: GIRLS' PHOTO PROJECT TOOL

This research is a joint initiative between Plan International and the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media. Every country participating in the qualitative research is also participating in the photo research. The purpose of the photo research is to capture images that girls and women see in the world around them. These photographs will then be sent to researchers in America to analyze. Thank you for helping us with the research – your work is very important!

The number of girls participating in the project in each country: we suggest a group of no more than 10 and not less than 5.

The photo research will take up to 3 days (but does not necessarily need to be 3 consecutive days).

^{xx} Stereotypical male traits and behaviour could include: assertiveness, being in control, aggression, an emphasis on physical strength, and sexual promiscuity. Stereotypical female traits and behaviors could include passivity, an emphasis on being pleasing, gentleness, dependence, and an emphasis on caring and empathy.

xxi https://womenandhollywood.com/resources/statistics/2018-statistics/

NOTES FOR FACILIATORS:

- You the information below to introduce and discuss the concept of media and influence with girls participating in the group. This section on Media Literacy can be used in conjunction with the PowerPoint presentation
- Please use and adapt this information and questions for your country's context. Some of the information might not be relevant, in which case it is okay not to use it.

Where do children and adolescents learn about the world around them? How do children and adolescents learn what is expected, normative, or appropriate, particularly when it comes to gender? While parents, friends, communities and schools are often acknowledged as influencing the lives of children and young people, media can also play an important role.

What are media effects? (According to research in the USA)

- A large body of interdisciplinary research demonstrates that media affects the beliefs and behaviors of its viewers.
- There are many theories about why media content shapes our thoughts and behaviors; in general, researchers have found that the more media people consume the more they tend to adopt the beliefs and behaviors depicted in media.
- People more readily adopt the beliefs and behaviors of media characters with whom they can relate; in other words, girls are more influenced by depictions of other girls, and boys are more likely to imitate the beliefs and behaviors of boys in the media.
- Viewers more readily endorse the beliefs and behaviors depicted in media if they perceive the content as realistic.

Why should we care about media effects?

- Girls and women are vastly underrepresented, occupying only 28% of speaking roles in family films and 31% of speaking roles in children's programming. This underrepresentation reinforces the notion that boys and men are of more importance.
- Depictions of girls and women are typically hyper-feminine and stereotypical. For example, women are shown engaging in domestic chores, such as cleaning or cooking.
- Girls and women in the media are often sexually objectified, or valued for their appearance and sex appeal rather than their intelligence or personality. Examples of sexualization include depicting only pieces of women's bodies (e.g., breasts or buttocks) or depicting women as literal objects (e.g., a woman on all fours being used as a table).
- Together, stereotypical and sexually objectified images send a message to viewers about the appropriate roles for women in society.
- Research has found that girls who consume more media are more likely to endorse stereotypical
 ideas about women and are more likely to view themselves as sexual objects. Media has also been
 associated with girls' body dissatisfaction and dieting behaviors, lowered self-efficacy, lowered
 leadership aspirations, academic underperformance, and stereotypically feminine career aspirations.

What is Media Literacy and how can it help?

- Media literacy is defined as the "ability to identity different types of media and understand the messages they're sending." Thus, media literacy allows consumers to acknowledge, question, and even challenge the kinds of messages they receive from the media.
- Media literacy includes asking: who created this media content, for what reason(s), and for what audience?
- Media literacy gives media consumers tools for understanding how media (both print and screen) shapes viewers' knowledge and opinions about the world.

Questions for participants

- 1. Why is media important? How does it influence how you see the world?
- 2. What are media effects?

3. How are girls typically shown in movies and TV? How are they shown in ways that are different from boys?

Day 2: Data collection training / instructions

<u>Overview</u>

The purpose is to gather photos of advertisements that you see in your everyday life. When we say 'advertisements' we mean advertisements in *printed* form, for example advertisements on billboards, in shop windows, in newspapers. You can take pictures of adverts that feature women or men or both. Your photos will then be sent to researchers in the United States who will analyze each of your images.

Thank you for your help with our research – your work is very important!

Instructions

- Participants will head out in groups of two and three to take photos of advertisements.
- Each member of the group will take five photos of advertisements.
- Each member of your group should take photos of different advertisements, not the same advertisements.
- Make sure you are being safe when you take photos following safety rules provided by Plan International staff.

Day 3: Data analysis workshop

NOTES FOR FACILIATORS:

- Either at the beginning or before the analysis workshop, the photos taken by the girls need to be uploaded onto a plan computer. During this workshop the participants need to be able to view the photos they have taken if possible, print the photos too.
- The discussion questions below are suggestions. Please adapt for your context. You do not need to ask every question.
- Please take brief notes of the discussion and send the translated notes back to Plan GH by **29** March 2019.
- If the girls want to provide written responses to the questions that is okay too, but it is not necessary.
- After the discussion the photos should be sent to Plan GH who will end the photos to the Geena Davis Institute – we will provide you with instructions of where and how to send the files.

1. What was your experience collecting photos of ads? What did you learn from this experience?

2. How many women are in the ads you collected?

3. What are some of the things you notice about the women in the ads you collected?

- How do they look?
- How are they dressed?
- What types of activities are they doing in the ads?
- Are they shown in a leadership position?
- 4. What messages are these ads sending about how women should look? Do? Think? Behave?
- 5. If women are featured, are they doing activities we expect women to do? If men are featured, are they doing activities we expect men to do?

- 6. Consider how the advert uses language. Does the advert provide factual information? Or does the advert appeal to particular emotions or desires? Or does the advert do both? Think about how the languages uses techniques (for example humour).
- 7. In what ways does the advertisement attempt to influence the consumer into buying the particular product?

11. REFERENCES

¹ Plan International and Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, *Taking the Lead: Girls and young women on changing the face of leadership,* Plan International, Woking, 2019.

² GAGE consortium, *Gender and Adolescence: Why Understanding Adolescent Capabilities, Change Strategies and Contexts Matters*, Overseas Development Institute, London, 2017. <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Gender-and-Adolescence-CF-FINAL-1.pdf</u>,

accessed 16 July 2019.

³ R.Wm. Blum, Adolescence: Age and Stage. Understanding the Golden Threads That Connect the Adolescent Girl Experience Worldwide, Girl Effect, John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 2017, <u>https://www.girleffect.org/stories/adolescence-age-and-stage/</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.

⁴ As noted in various studies including: B.A. Hamad et al., *I Prefer to Stay Silent: Exploring Opportunities for and Challenges to Adolescents' Psychosocial and Mental Health in Gaza*, Overseas Development Institute, London, 2018, <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/publication/adolescent-psychosocial-health-in-gaza/</u>, accessed 16 July 2019; GAGE consortium, *Gender and Adolescence: Why Understanding Adolescent Capabilities, Change Strategies and Contexts Matters*, Overseas Development Institute, London, 2017, <u>https://www.gage.odi.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/Gender-and-Adolescence-CF-FINAL-1.pdf</u>, accessed 16 July 2019; R. Wm., Blum, *Adolescence: Age and Stage, Understanding the Golden Threads*

That Connect the Adolescent Girl Experience Worldwide, Girl Effect, John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, 2017, <u>https://www.girleffect.org/stories/adolescence-age-and-stage/</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.

⁵ S.L. Grau & Y.C. Zotos, 'Gender stereotypes in advertising: a review of current research', *International Journal of Advertising*, vol.35, no.5, Sep. 2016, citing W.E. Vinacke, 'Stereotypes and social concepts', *Journal of Social Psychology*, vol.46, 1957 and R.D. Ashmore & F.K. Del Boca, 'Conceptual approaches to stereotypes and stereotyping', in D.L. Hamilton ed., *Cognitive processes in stereotyping and intergroup behavior*, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, 1981.

⁶ UN Women, 'The Beijing Platform for Action turns 20: Women and the Media', *UN Women* [website], <u>http://beijing20.unwomen.org/en/in-focus/media</u>, accessed 23 June 2019.

⁷ United Nations, *Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: The Fourth World Conference on Women,* 27 October 1995, paras. 235, 239 and 244,

https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/pdf/BDPfA%20E.pdf, accessed 16 July 2019.

⁸ United Nations, *Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: The Fourth World Conference on Women*, 27 October 1995, para. 245, <u>https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/pdf/BDPfA%20E.pdf</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.

⁹ T. Williams, 'Gender, media and democracy', *The Round Table*, vol.89, no.357, 2000.

¹⁰ G. Tuchman, 'The Symbolic Annihilation of Women by the Mass Media', in L. Crothers & C. Lockhart eds., *Culture and Politics*, Palgrave Macmillan, New York, 2000. Originally published as the introduction to G. Tuchman, A.K. Daniels & J. Benet, *Hearth and Home: Images of women in the mass media*, Oxford University, New York, 1978.

¹¹ S.L. Grau & Y. C. Zotos, 'Gender stereotypes in advertising: a review of current research', *International Journal of Advertising*, vol.35, no.5, Sep. 2016.

¹² G. Tuchman, 'The Symbolic Annihilation of Women by the Mass Media', in L. Crothers & C. Lockhart eds., *Culture and Politics*, Palgrave Macmillan, New York, 2000.

¹³ R. Weissbourd, *Leaning Out: Teen Girls and Leadership Biases*, Making Caring Common Project, Harvard Graduate School of Education, Cambridge MA, 2015.

¹⁴ S. Iyengar & D.R. Kinder, *News That Matters: Television and Public Opinion,* University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1987.

¹⁵ H. Liu, L. Cutcher & D. Grant, 'Authentic Leadership in Context: An Analysis of Banking CEO Narratives During the Global Financial Crisis', *Human Relations*, vol.70, no.6, Nov. 2016.

¹⁶ S.L. Smith, M. Choueiti, & K. Pieper, *Gender Bias Without Borders*, The Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media, California, 2015, <u>https://seejane.org/symposiums-on-gender-in-media/gender-bias-without-borders/</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.

¹⁷ M. Conroy et al, 'From Ferraro to Palin: Sexism in Coverage of Vice Presidential Candidates in Old and New Media', *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, vol.3, no.4, June 2015.

¹⁸ I. Garcia-Blanco & K. Wahl-Jorgensen, 'The Discursive Construction of Women Politicians in the European Press', *Feminist Media Studies*, vol. 12, no.3, 2012.

¹⁹ K. Kahn, *The Political Consequences of Being a Woman: How Stereotypes Influence the Conduct and Consequences of Political Campaigns*, Columbia University Press, New York, 1996.

²⁰ G. Woodall & K.L. Fridkin, 'Shaping Women's Chances: Stereotypes and the Media', in L. Han and C. Heldman eds., *Rethinking Madame President: Are We Ready for a Woman in the White House?*, Lynne Rienner Pub, Colorado, 2007; C. Heldman, S.J. Carroll & S. Olson, "She Brought Only a Skirt': Print Media Coverage of Elizabeth Dole's Bid for the Republican Nomination', *Political Communication*, vol.22, no.3, 2005.

²¹ R.G. Lawrence & M. Rose, *Hillary Clinton's Race for the White House: Gender Politics and Media on the Campaign Trail,* Lynne Rienner Pub, Colorado, 2009; C. Heldman, S.J. Carroll & S. Olson, "She Brought Only a Skirt': Print Media Coverage of Elizabeth Dole's Bid for the Republican Nomination', *Political Communication*, vol.22, no.3, 2005; K. Kahn, *The Political Consequences of Being a Woman: How Stereotypes Influence the Conduct and Consequences of Political Campaigns*, Columbia University Press, New York, 1996.

²² S.J. Parry-Giles, *Hillary Clinton in the News: Gender and Authenticity in American Politics*, University of Illinois Press, Urbana, IL, 2014.

²³ M. Conroy et al, 'From Ferraro to Palin: Sexism in Coverage of Vice Presidential Candidates in Old and New Media', *Politics, Groups, and Identities*, vol.3, no.4, June 2015.

²⁴ C. Heldman, M. Conroy & A. Ackerman, *Sex and Gender in the 2016 Presidential Election*, Praeger, New York, 2018.

²⁵ B. Semujju, 'Frontline Farmers, Backline Sources: Women as a tertiary voice in climate change coverage', *Feminist Media Studies*, vol.15, no.4, 2015.

²⁶ A. Haraldsson & L. Wängnerud, 'The effect of media sexism on women's political ambition: evidence from a worldwide study', *Feminist Media Studies*, vol.19, no.4, 2019.

²⁷ United Nations, *Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: The Fourth World Conference on Women*, 27 October 1995, paras. 235, <u>https://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/beijing/pdf/BDPfA%20E.pdf</u>, accessed 16 July 2019.

²⁸ M. Lauzen & D. Dozier, 'The Role of Women on Screen and Behind the Scenes in the Television and Film Industries: Review of a Program of Research', *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, vol.23, no.4, 1999.
 ²⁹ M. Lauzen, *The Celluloid Ceiling: Behind-The-Scenes Employment of Women on the Top 100, 250,*

and 500 Films of 2018, Center for the Study of Women in Television and Film, San Diego, CA, 2019, <u>https://womenintvfilm.sdsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/2018</u> Celluloid Ceiling Report.pdf, accessed 16 July 2019.

³⁰ C. Salmon, 'Why gender equality in Hollywood is still a long way off', *The Independent*, 18 October 2018, <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/arts-entertainment/films/features/gender-equality-hollywood-female-directors-patty-jenkins-tamara-a8586841.html</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.

³¹ J. Fuster, 'Hollywood Studios Are Releasing 5 Times More Films With Female Directors This Year (Exclusive)', *The Wrap*, 28 February 2019, <u>https://www.thewrap.com/female-director-woman-hollywood-studio-progress-five-times-more-history/</u>, accessed on 4 July 2019.

³² R. Montpeller, 'Time's Up Rings in New Year by Launching Campaign to Double Number of Women in Leadership', *Women and Hollywood* [website], January 2, 2019, <u>https://womenandhollywood.com/times-up-rings-in-new-year-by-launching-campaign-to-double-number-of-women-in-leadership/</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.

³³ R. Montpeller, 'Universal Is First Major Studio to Accept 4% Challenge', *Women and Hollywood* [website], 30 January 2019, <u>https://womenandhollywood.com/universal-is-first-major-studio-to-accept-4-challenge/</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.

³⁴ See: *Women in Film* [website], <u>https://womeninfilm.org/about/</u>, accessed 4 July 2019, and Annenbergy Inclusion Initiative [website], <u>https://annenberg.usc.edu/research/aii</u>, accessed on 4 July 2019.

³⁵ R. Montpeller, 'Swedish Film Institute Unveils Initiative for Women Screenwriters at Cannes', *Women and Hollywood* [website], 17 May 2019, <u>https://womenandhollywood.com/swedish-film-institute-unveils-initiative-for-women-screenwriters-at-cannes/</u>, accessed 3 September 2019.

³⁶ S.L. Grau & Y. C. Zotos, 'Gender stereotypes in advertising: a review of current research', *International Journal of Advertising*, vol.35, no.5, Sep. 2016.

³⁷ Danish Film Institute, 'What's the number of women and men working on your film?', *Danish Film Institute* [website], 4 October 2018, <u>https://www.dfi.dk/en/english/news/whats-number-women-and-men-working-your-film</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.

³⁸ W. Mitchell, 'Gender equality: How would your film or company perform on a self report?', *Wendy Mitchell* [blog post], <u>https://www.filmwendy.com/post/gender-equality-how-would-your-film-or-company-perform-on-a-self-report</u>, accessed 4 July 2019.

³⁹ British Film Institute, 'BFI Diversity Standards', British Film Institute [website],

https://www.bfi.org.uk/supporting-uk-film/diversity-inclusion/bfi-diversity-standards, accessed 4 July 2012.

⁴⁰ T. Williams, 'Gender, media and democracy', *The Round Table*, vol.89, no.357, 2000.
 ⁴¹ UN Women, 'The Beijing Platform for Action turns 20: Women and the Media', *UN Women* [website], http://beijing20.unwomen.org/en/in-focus/media, accessed 23 June 2019.

⁴² H. Liu, L. Cutcher & D. Grant, 'Authentic Leadership in Context: An Analysis of Banking CEO Narratives During the Global Financial Crisis', *Human Relations*, vol.70, no.6, Nov. 2016.



PARTNERS

This report is based on research produced by the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media at Mount Saint Mary's University and Plan International.

The mission of the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media is to engage, educate, and influence media content creators, marketeers and audiences about the critical need to eliminate gender bias and negative stereotypes in media. To this end, the Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media has pioneered the field of research on gender inequity in media and has been dedicated to conducting intersectional analysis of representations of gender, race, ability and sexuality. It has amassed the largest body of research on gender prevalence in family entertainment, spanning more than 20 years. Geena Davis Institute on Gender in Media's research serves as the basis for education and outreach programmes that help families, studios, educators and content creators become critical consumers and producers.

Plan International is an independent development and humanitarian organisation that advances children's rights and equality for girls. We strive for a just world, working together with children, young people, supporters and partners. Using our reach, experience and knowledge, Plan International drives changes in practice and policy at local, national and global levels. We are independent of governments, religions and political parties. For over 80 years we have been building powerful partnerships for children and we are active in more than 75 countries.

Girls Get Equal: Plan International has been campaigning for girls' rights for over a decade and the current Girls Get Equal campaign aims to ensure girls and young women have power over their own lives and can help shape the world around them. Promoting young female leadership is central to the Girls Get Equal campaign. While this includes access to formal positions of power and authority, such as increasing the numbers of young women and girls in decision-making roles in public life, it also looks beyond this. The campaign seeks to redefine leadership to better reflect how girls, young women and young advocates and activists are choosing to lead: working with them to ensure that leadership is feminist, gender transformative and inclusive. It means not reinforcing a narrow male-defined set of leadership skills and behaviours or replicating the male-dominated power and leadership structures that currently exist. Throughout the campaign there will be ongoing research, partnering with girls and young women to fully understand what it means to them to be a leader.

Plan International Global Hub Dukes Court, Duke Street, Woking, Surrey GU21 5BH, United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0) 1483 755155 Fax: +44 (0) 1483 756505 E-mail: info@plan-international.org

plan-international.org

Published in 2019.

- f facebook.com/planinternational
- twitter.com/planglobal
- instagram.com/planinternational
- in linkedin.com/company/plan-international
- youtube.com/user/planinternationaltv